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City and ,ounty of llew York, Part III.
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: ' THD PROPT.Z OF 771 Ss7MAMR OF NIW YOLE: E .

GOURT OF G3NZRAYL SESSIONS.OF T3 T34

- aand i wd b i S 4 A ndh il

_ ~against- : HONIl. JOS3IPH F. MUTQUZ:
e - : : Judge
b FRANZ PECZULICE. and FRANK SGILIR- * and a Jury.

RACH. .

New York, June 12, 1919,
The defendants are indicted for ror1@*; in the first

degree, grand Tarceny in the first degree and
assault in the first degree and receiving in the
first degree.
Indictment filed larch 31, 1919,
rance 8:;

For the People; ASSISTANT DILISTRICT ATTORNIY BOHAN,
FQI‘ ‘/8 "“1(u ;"lts : KO :. 4. n‘h— Oll::II~J-JR(.} » -?Q .:.
A jury is duly impene’led and sworn.

lir. Bohan opsns t» the Jjury.

o -

Pierre ii. Ucas, of 40 V@sey Street, is sworn to act

&8s interpréter in the Croatian language.

e .
FRANKE 4 I 2, of 36 3each Streel, called as & witness on re-

.

half of the People, having heen duly sworn, testified

il

45

as follows, through the. interpreter Pierre 'li. Ucas;

m AV ANET 1T/ TYT AT ,{3

et
U‘L.ud- avsrdaddl Lids X ULS ilie _‘O;u“.":

., & Your name is "rank g, ® A Yeos.

« Where do you live, lr. Zic? A 36 Beach otreet.

How long have you lived there? "A Atout four resers,




; Q@ Did you live there on the 22nd of llarch this rear

Mg S o 3 i g - A . o of » ~ . *
* That ie in the city &n@ county of New York, is it?
wr
- 188 e

\ - What floor dia :on live on? 4 The\first floor,

v Did you live there alone? 4 - There Yyare meny people
living there.

“ How many men lived with you on the first floor of 36
Beach Street on the 22nd of larch this year? 4 Nine men.

1 Give ma their names? A One ies me, Frank Zie, John
Bonefecto, John Zic, Vincent Lic, Nie Mragqueich; he at that

.

1

time was not living in that house.
) Did Andrew Androvich live there to0%® A Yes.

Who peid the. rent? & Vincent ZLic.

And you all naid him for the room? ‘A We wera. paying

all to hime. The house wes in his name. :
.,  How meny 8lept in your room? 4 Two men,:
Who paid for the food?. 4 All together,
3 Who tool: care of the mawls? A We were prepering our
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cooking together for all of us &nd paying owr parts

now in the Day

1 4 - P 34 » / s e g
T.ine toat { eore I was working on the llew York Cantral,
T y Y Tare TO7 4G . 4 A . y w1y were v

wvere




{ v
.
3
s f "y i3 wlr Tyt y + % 2+
doing? A I was working on & ltoat,
8 T At 3% 0 1 .- 1 ’ & ) .
Now, on the 22nd of llarch, 1919, that was Saturday
2 iy A w5 ;I 4o v N .
nigne, was: 1T% I8 5 X
'
X 2 - » e e » ‘_ 5 .
s Hov many men were in the Kitchen? A  Seven.,
~ 4 T, R % T = 1 1 4% : &) 132 vy 43 o y ?
At Brout 1t o'cloek that night did anything happen?
- 7 5 o " s PR P
A Yez. 0Som2 men came in our housa,.
¢ ‘what time did the men coms in? A4 After eight o'elock,
. How many men cama:-in? a I did not dount them kut I
think it we&s seven or eight men,
A e y . o I A : 2 :
., HOW Were thney arecsedy? a4 ey had ordinery suits on
4
viiehe
0 What kind of hats? A Oome of them had hats; some of
- them caps,
“» ey " 1 b o s X - : FOEN . o g A g T . -
7aes there &nything on their faces? A .Yes, they had
1 1 A - - Yu o> o,
hendkerchiefs on their faces.
« Then they came into the room what did they sey? .A They
- 3 - A1 A e ~
told us to hold up owxr hands,
2 niA 3 “aw arn=+ W tr +hai hian o
Did t g nave an in in thelr hands® 4
in their hands,
L
\ i o & 1 2 3 © A v Y11y 3 A L> 3
' : at did you &nd your friends do? 4 Some
- nd o 5 o - Sk e
9 LI lcail ].il wh 1 A'J. A l J Jd (FES! 1 L« ."1‘-)4'1.
) Did these men speak? . They said .on, "Hold
- f «, + v 2= 3 ] - O3 % Pl o . ¥ - Y o~
¥ " L1 ,'LL(“ diq 1', .: Spaal 11‘: 18 T.l Het:
an I A ' v A & w 19
S814, { 1D .
Al 3 QY se&arch you? da Ye o
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refore or alter shots were firad®
(:6 .
Pired? A "Three shots,
"ired at? A Towards Qihe and Vin-
1@y on Jour parson? A Yes sir,
Jou nave? A 91,728,
E money® A Some of the monay I
fy stocking.
1e ant &ask you wh'é that is? A Those
to huve'{hﬁse marked for identification.
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Q Whav did they do to your trousers? 4L They tore them

nese are the trousers you wore? A Yes,

i . e ; .
) )id they take the money from your leg? A Yes,

w Where was it, in your stocking®? A Ripght in my stoeking,
MRe HO'ANIe I offer the trousers in evidence.
MRe HROSIZIE3ERG: INo ot jaction.
(2rousers nmerked in eviderce People's Bxhibit 1,)
% Te) us what you saw these men do to your friends or
countrymen? 4 “hey searched my friends.

*« How long were they in this room? A I cannot tell ex-

v hut I think a little more than five minutes.

&l x to each other or say anything?®
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A I did not heare, Only when they were going away they said,
"Tet us go’.
Q When they said that aid they say thet in 2nglish?

0 DO you understand Italian? . A - I understood what they
sg&ide Thay said 'Andianno”.

v »

( Do vou understanéd Italian? A I understand a very little.
h way did the men go out? A Through the same door

they came in.

} 1id 1y ',“ 7O 11) ‘"rinv (‘\ 3 nf\’;-‘ " 4} o r
% LLQ ang * 5 4. 1 -eiLBTI08 O “10wW hem? A les.




A Which door did he go out of?

4

- Q Where did you go? A ‘I went

Q Who followed them? A Mike Zi

Ce

L The miadle doore

Lo the window,

The window o what room?. A In the room near the gtreet.'

the kitchen and that was

Q The o
) 1wt was Qot the room wers you were held up? A lo,
thet is the room where we are sleapinge.
4@ The room you were held up wes
in the rear of the house? & Yes,

) 14ad +he t.' Tra sinty one vy rﬂ-po X
w Dl Tne axe any nmoneg ronm J

that weele
N ﬁov‘: mll(’ll aid tﬂ",');' tﬂ-l”.

Q .And 26 from your pockete =4

% When you got to the window wha

yelling for police.
v *'u( vou onen the window® F.9 v
Lic 3 pen ) rind ow®

. How 4id you onen it? 4 The w

! Did you kreak the window while
ALY » 0. ‘
v« Can you identify, .or are you ¢
the men tha
their nhands and held you up and your
)+ Where is that one? 4 He is s
; « Will vou point.him out; .come
on him¢%
(7itne~s stepe down from +the

tered the kitchen on liarch ZZnd with revolvers in

friends? a

our pocxet? A {28 which

"rom your leg? A $1,700.

YGS .

t did you do? &« I was

Ll

9L e

indow was onaen,

you were trying to open

I recognize one.

tting theres

}=

down ¢nd put your hand

witness chair ané puts




: | 7
his hand on the defendant Sgelirrach and resumes his seat,)

+ “hen you got to the window what did you say? A ‘I was
ca'llin r Lhe L)Olj.ceo

« How soon after did the police come? A I could not

tell "You exunetly.
< Ten ninutes, will you say? ;-. I don't know.
IlR. BOHAN: . Thet is all:; you may examines
CROSS -BRAUINATION BY Iile ROSINBIRG:
' fou remained in the house until the police cdme, didn't
you? A YeS.
. That ie, after the rotkers left the house you stayed in

the front room, is that correet? A Ilo, I remainec
room & little while eand then I came Leck in the kitchene.

Q" Then the policeman came into the room, didn't he? A Yes.

-

+ How long after the rotters laft “he kitchen was it be-
fore the policemen Tirst came into the z'mn‘,{ A Some minutes;.
I could not tell exactly,

* Can't you tell the Jjury approximetely:; was it as long

as you 'eve bteen on the stand here this morning refore’ hse came

?
L -
A ot so -long a tine.
« was it ten or fifteen minutes -or twenty minutes, or how
: ‘
long? & T cannot %ell you exactly. I was not looking &t any
watch,
« About how long was it? A I think retween five =2nd ten
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after

the rotters lefte «# I don't kKnow,

*  You sew “het policemsn in the kitchen room thet nith,
dién't you? A  That man came in house and %014 ue to go
to 1 police station.

“ _aYe you able recognize which policeman it was who
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: i v-asred 1f you saw them in. your room tftar the.
3 swr &
QY R 4 - ; 4 AT 2% Vs 24 4 X8 A R = 1. . -
aris X € 10T 8ure, e were standin in our kitechen &and
2 YTy +Aan ¢ T A ' o o £ 2 s ” )
el ) { 114 ~ 3 0N ¢ 5 g k| -
somekody told u {s e @ police s*tation ant I went and
172 m -~ s {
DK my eup % QUL e
[ JiXa ¥ohe Bo g :
'1‘.,,. — \ 3 - q‘ \~ - L P L » » - ~ x "
' en vou \ Y N ne mnolicemen from vour hoticse at

B W g J =l ) iy
e .8t {rl_\"]l ic +thet co reet? A .HO,

T -t maads gy WY dedeny r
X went & _'t,,( .g_{"'.
BISh 4 1 idant+i 17 hara « 2| 3 17 4] + Y- . g
. Can you identify here —— and say that the man vou have
v

previously seen was Officer 7ilson, the men in the middle here®

(The of?ficers leave the courtroom.)

Ty & v o o v " Py . s £ . 43 ' ¢ . : : )
« Jhere nave Jou 8een him refore? L 88w nim:in tThat
Y H £ 4- 4 <3 3 4
police sta any times,
~ T» “‘l 1 “U"“' l"ﬁ' ' o143 o 54 P &
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door of the nolice tation,
8
+ 3 N - 1 1 .
¢ - Didn't 3 up to zZ4th OStreet that night with & police-

stout mene.




Tha man in citizen's clothes, you mean? 4 The man

L)
3

w

' gk , 10

nhave teen with lhirphy at least twenty-five times

iacted to. uastion withdrawne.

N <y vy~ . ~” oD s S v : & %
ften have you seen Qfficer liurphy since thlis rob-
1 4 ] £ vy p " . ¢ "4
ny times n came to the courthouse I saw him.
M - \
t &t 1least twenty-five times? a I cannot tell |
\
\
T | 4 e »
d not ¢ount how many times.
|
.
- - 4 Yo - A A } AE3 Y . AsA - ’
you went %o 1€ ndow in thet apartment did you
N . . P . . - rm ~ 5 a wade =
o ourself to call for the police? A [ told Fou
Ly -~

LNaAOw WaS 0OPalle

any one. of your friends who lived in the anartment

~“ 4 - < Y e e 7 oy
fron nart o he house or in ront room hefore :
% - v \ v ,
,..T)x“, i Cul daCoe
4 M, & e ] 3 o ¥ 4 : B
C Cel0l ou aic* s yYas il g

t vou run into the front room immediately after the

kitchen? A After they laft the kitehen I went

1't you the first one to run into the front room?

4

, to the front.

A very 1little time tefore me in the front room.




, | 11

ran into the front *nop? A There were twn windows in that

front room.

.. Wera you execited when %the robters came in and asked you

to hold your hands up? A I was & little excited.

., veren't rou a great deal excited? A I was ezoited.

Q The man who took your money took it “rom hehind where

you waere stending? 4 He was behind ma,.
g%
« 4And rou did not see hie Pface? 4L T am not sure atout
“
= v
t':t—t- -

Q@ Did you ever see that rmen tefore rour money was talken®

T
da bt 0 i
( id TTon ‘ him -ha 43 ] ) -3 174 -~ 5]
Q #id you see him &t *the time he was taking your moneys

A I gaw the men tehind me rut I &am not sure who it was.

) Did@ you ever sae thet men since? “  No.
-/‘.A. .‘ 0 Y & ¢ .,41.-“ :-—U\}
How, as a mutter of fact, you have testified that all of

the men, the rotters who came into that kitchen on that night

: . e et e RERCE s 4 :
had handkerchiefs over thelr faces, ie that correct? i Not
.
-y i i Sacd ~ 4
‘*-’1 J f ‘: 16N e MO 8T ')“ ','m, LT NOT 1'11,0
DR R
) &a wi/\J °
- I L1 " % - & o
) Hovw nany were there altogether? 4 I cannot tel) you for
SUTQe
“ bout how many were thera® -+ Oh, I thin¥ seven or




0 Saven or eight rotters came in? = Ves.

—

- ! - - wAla v 2 a1 & L1 % i
* And how -many had handkerchiefs 'over their faces? & 1

¢cannot tel? you thet “or sure, tut I am sure aktout one man; he

33 A n - y ” 1 ~

G1d not Akve anj nanuaxercinle le

2 1 ' R} M .

) - “h ™ Vo il davd -

v  You say one men did not have any hand kerchief on his
face, is thet correct; you are sure of that - one, you say? ;
» . .
4 That is the man whom I reeognizede
et is to say, Prank Sgelirrach is .the man who you 8ay
did not have uué héndkerchief on hie face &%t &1l that night, is
that eorrect? ** I could not %e’1 if he had any handkerchief
tefors, tut when I saw him he did not have &any. ‘
). And n do vou s&y you saw him without a hendkerchief

on hic face? A VYhen he was in the kitchen,

v N ¢ nna
v i S ia

+the .man vho took your money? & "li0.

LR

R 00U D: e will ad journ now for recess,

e

Gentlemen of the jury, the lourt will excuse Yydu until
two o0'clocke In the meanwhile remenmkber that the law forkids
sou %0 talk sbout +his case with any stranger and :1136 Jor=
tids vou from discussing it among yourselves. You must wait
until you hear all the evidence on hoth sic es tefore. you

yinion. You must wait until a1l the

form or express any 0]

avidence is in and until the Court subtmits it %o ou Tor your
sonsiderction snd then at thet tims rou raetire ané discuss
conslicercL.ion \C .Neén au y NEY ma s rYoatlrl'e all S Cl

5 2 i » CI e e o L

it in order to decide it tut not te’ore then. Please come

(e

ktack at two o'clock,
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S D SR i CERELANee M T, y 3
P RAI X ; I .C resumed the stand:
| f
v Y T A 3 *r M N1 VARTMT N . Rt T T AT TATS /Y .
C;'. W™ aadddid L L ids I'«'u &b _T.;AL u'of D4 dliie as\Jos 2. Jas\l

How long did you heve that 31700 in your stoecking?

A I got it at different times for ,ong periods and nhOgt periods.
‘

l Was it there for over a year? A Sometimes I hed it for
a year; sonetimes & shorter time.

L You saw Trank Sgelirrach, *the men you picked out here :
to-day in court, or;_g.;ch 23rd, isn't thet correct®? A Yes, I
saw him. ; .

" You alewo saw him in thie courtroom when Frank Ctrolich's :
case was on trial? Yos, .1 saw hin, ’

o
.

Q3 Were you talken to the stationhouse of llarch 22nd by the

R acre ~ D2 .6 m, vy . . -y - » & < P 3
police ofiicer? a -They told us we were to go 1o the police

gtation, hut nolrod trouscht ma theres I went &alone.

2 1 i 4 - 2 - % dv'a - 2 .v - 41 e
) "hen you go* to the police station you saw the ocame

- v -
policenan who was in Jour ki ;C':v‘:,‘. jugt before thaty +# T told
you tefore T 8 not sure e was in the kitchen

« Did you ever sea thet policeman agaln whom you saw in
the kiftechen®? L No. ;

v )idn't you up to 2441 ;frnét with O0fficer lurphy and '
another npoliceman® - T8,

. LIV riQY Viga 1 (3 ) ne o 3 'W:‘ 1¢86m ,‘: s __ <'.'01'.‘t "H’D'-' "7‘."8
Nname




e u 3 - ' ~ = Nan )
.- Wes he the samw policeman who weg &t 36 Reach Street
. B h .. o 4 . i TH % 1 5 4e ! - Y 27} !
SFLENL &LTLEY t r 4\ 30 Ld Jgou Thn I 4id not now wnieén
: ~ Ty 1
policeman was in our L8e o
- 2 " 4. C ~ % .1 o > o g A = :
Novw, wnen the man took the money from your Yeg or from
>
i /
o 4 PR e - ol 4 + e~ T} 12 A 5 4
the i HIANEG, Tou naa yo tack %o ' cbers, didn't youe®
Mha mirn SR S e . e
&a ne man O )Y -MO o 1 NTEA 9 1111 10 e
1 : » - ~ - 3 1 4 - P 3 - "
idn't you e Yo eack to a1 o che other rotters
11Y } Y ) 19 4 ] ‘ Y ¢ 3 4 N -
waen Jour noney was relng- taken? 4 o sir; ;he man.were
v dn g A3 ‘e 4- e
L VR - - \ - [ -~
nyY ™ NI M. :
Y TH® COUR™: :
~ .y i & L v AR & 2 . e -~ i o . 1
: er e, Tl o ¢ ) L youe & 4 In front of me was’ the
3 -] 1 4 . s " - 2 -
tatla +the other: uné the tarle.,
- " i <r . = L -
v w01 +ou sae mx r3% tes, U1 could ssae IiTe
VvV Oam TIAC NI TN >
it L b e B ¢ N dad JaMT |

Did all of the other roktkters have nandkerchiefs over
-
their faces? 4. lost o2 them had them, but ¢ man I recosnize
: : ;
1 .CL no 4: .‘{' g3 X8 ¢ o @
' .
M he . vnamgyou say. rou recoznize, he did not have &. hani-
Yerchiaef over his fece’; wes ha the only ons who did not have &
-‘“r‘_“ ",” W i ni ‘(3‘.' I
Miie DOHAli; Objected to &s already
THIZ COUKT: I will let him answer it apgain,
A 1 saw onl; im without & héndkeréhief on his fece,
« Sut you sew tf‘"; the ot : trteare, 4id you? A I am not
sSurae ":) { + ) ) 1 v/t I .‘,'li .Xa 18 e
L]
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Ta1% vera +herao anv v\;\,b}ﬁp o }‘.(%U;Tl(} T ou? pit I
v 9 -~ LT =1 s LI 4 A Cellg -+ N “ L) i - sl o e
ho were réhind Je -+ I Only Inow thnat the man
was ’i..rniz, peLr na.
¢  How ‘many rohbters were in front of yougy A  Zhs
ly in front f me, Lecauce 1 was tehind the table
ers we ing arouné +the takle.
v Weren't you tehind the door hiding®? +«# I was
Eehinc 1 s : tatle.
v .. ‘an' ¢ 3 i l'(,:'|i;; 1 b 100X ’,’ £ )‘;“.‘.tff.'.’ the Uh}
nd they opened the door came near me; afterwar
was Dl ned.e.
.- “hen the door was opened, didn't you go tehind
g8tood whe I wes sitting, only that I stood up.
G When you stood up, all of the .rohters with the

ons, we®e tehinda you?
THZ Q0UL2: You have been &all over thate He
did not now how many were Lehind him.
) *his was a kitchen room, wasn't it® 4. Yes si
Q . Ané at- is in the rear of the flat®? ~ Yes,
4\ he refile
1 Dhet is . : h:ag floor, isn't it? “ Yes,
4" Your ™Msat wag on %he firdt floor of that house
And in order to get to your flet vou had. to wa
v atairs Trom the street? 4 1 did not coung them,
many L I id not count thenm.

whom I recog-

ers cane

ds thea

exception

said he

Yes.
up now

Thare are
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BY THE COURM; h i

Q. Is there & flight of stairs inside, or just a stoop
outside? “ Only in “ront 0f the house.

v

Q@ You went up a stoop and then you were on *he level of
your apartment, is thet it? A Yes,

BY M. ROSZNBIRG: |

: % Cén you tall +the (Court how any steps, atout; atout
how high was the first floor from the idewalk, in feet, 'if yom
mow? A I did not measure that, tut if you tell me to, I would
find out.

* Was it as high as you are standing? A A little more.

. Will you please stand upe U0 rou know how tal? You are?
“ I do nect Imnov .

Wile - J00ZMNBIRG: I thin@ we can all agrée he i8 atout:

O feet 10 inches. :

A (Continued) ; I do not esay thet -the level of our house
is a8 high as I am. I mean from the floor heref A little more
than the floor here. :

* How high i3 the level of the first floor from the side-
walk? & I thix there are six, seven or eipht steps from “he
sidewalk, tut I am not sure,

« liow, ‘there is & yard tack of your kitchen, is that Lor-
rect? a Yas, J

 Is the ,erd telow the level of the street or is i+ the
same 'evel as the street? <« L' think it ie on the sama level
tut I uld ot  SFRE ver looized exactly.




: b ¥ 4
How far tack from the kitchen in the yard is the water

P

closet? A I could not tell) you exactly.,

L
You Imov & men named Summers, don't you? A4 Yes sir,
} And Summers is the son of the janitor of thettuilding
.8t 36 Deach Street? 4 Yes,

“ IHave you talked to Summers atout this case? 4 Perhaps

L) v ¥ N 5 rle Ll L - -
:
Ty R £ 3 § 4 3 4 oy £ ¥ 1 £ han e
¢« Ldd you k erout e details of what happened on that
- 14 > . ] 7 . . 1 s 4 o
night of larcn £ana? .4 He Knew that himsell,

> Did you talk with him? A We were talking that we have

0 g0 o e court.
R $ +nt1lr o3 a-w i e o 2a 2 i dean W e Ly s .
) Hidn't you talk atout the details of what you were o=
3 ~ 4 . oy € YT N AthhAar 14 3 - v . = i o
ing Lo 8&ay &and whet the other witnesses were L\)int L0 8S&ay% i DNO,
AL A
I ol e n’Jt.
Ll
e RUDBINDBSHGS That i 2 I
e RS T YT ap -4
S3ID1LNUY SAALLLIL LU 24 ddshe ..\)..—uJ- -4

e - . e e = . * 2 D
¢« Were the police officers that came into the kitchen after

P4 i 1Imi arm 3 3« Pr v !
the men left, a1 in uniform? A 48 I told you tefore, when the
police céme someone teld us fto go to the police station, so I am
not sure he veas in uniform or he was not in uniform,

+ Were thare any of them in uniform? « I &m.not sure, te-

causae I wont in the room anc took my suit,

X . o : 5 * .u - A Y » ~ - o -y »
« How lon; are »ou in.Amaorica? A Atout seven rrears.

7 o . oy AT O 3 5 O™ o o Q R rut 10
v 82 ! ) 8 ( i« .. rom* it From 18Ttrif,
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Reach

3

4 s o4 B B v o .. ~ T , " " - 1 8 4y . o
otreet, were they youwr fe’low countrymen and did they come  from

3 Y4 .m - -l r ) " “ 34 A Vs
Le Banme 7 L O urope a8 you adic%? & Ya8e X |
: = e W . o ’ 3 T - - © v g
v Pic Y come rom i &me town® A Yes, .
T -~ . 4 v » - » v \ 1 - 4 ~
L L0V, 19Tre e Saveral men wno have The s&ame name &as
17 "o e - N 1 X 4 3 o =Y o 4 5 ' Peiiah 7l
you heve; ars u related to any of ne other men, Vincent
:
3 ] i 3 %1 s ‘s M3 ! : ] - ré
dic, ank Lic and i 2ie? Mize Zic &nd I, we are related
v
I ¥ f a4 4 T rymaar A s } 5 3 Yy q 3 ~ 1 !
irn a8 distant way. .- Hi:s randfathelr \ randmd theb ware
v B v & ;4
COUS1LINS ¢
T =3 A & Tn Ps ¥ . 4 . ~
¢ How ahout t} thers? 4 +hey are not related.
’ 4 4 " T :
. +*hay are not related to you? A HNo sir,
. 7 ~ 4 1 “r 1Y . & 41 . %
~ How long did it take you to save e L 1728%
AL 2 ki D b7 g 1 - : - 2" - '
Ot jected to. O ection overruled. :
’ . . 4 4 32 . + 1 ¥ 3
A Atout 471 the time at I v in smerica,
IR § diban wad\hrLdd o dand
4
) M 4 3 ¢ 114 - ey 6 w
S i £ LCOUT 8aven eunrsy da b 5 5
rria 2 ! . : PO o+ 4 3 ~ MY — VS y 1 :
} Whom did yom go to the stationhouse with; was ir.. Sumw-
4 1 ~ ‘ 4 (o - 4 f
mers R Tou en you went fto 24th Street? & Yas,
e : & . o e i = . - - e
. wadon 7AW S6e re? y\ ~NeYre wareg mgny peoplag an
4.7 - .
w8 NOUE Qe
.
- -
& BF e . Y S6€ J L o J 0 3 o/ it we 3 TICLELT] s - bd .,,[t cn ...“Lr'?at‘.'
La Lii @
4 4 4L 2
v | 0 ) r —e
Fas a i €1 et I |
T E 3 ) 4 3 3 v
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o deh i A PO A, - - A — OS] AN bhat o
r 4 " ” e »
W § " wo o+ Ty $ , g 1T vrani e
v 11K A i i 4 L4 Py - i ) FAES LIl o

* "hat kind of work do you d0% I em working on the cars.

) ¥4t hat ailroad® ‘ On the enn8ylvanis Railroad,

Gl L

il B 41 - 50 1 . 4
“ | 4'1, LULD LTi( & A P3T e
-~ . . : bR e e vk bl R Ml - T, ¥ e e o
- a0 orl e VOu I Vi1 countsry Il rom whet nert of
~ g : y » a nes & 4 ¥ €3 ¢ 3 v A e 1 ¥ 3 5 vasre Y 1
Juront id 3 ome . I & n Ameriocs atout six rvesrs ant .1

T [y 4468 iy o v - £ &
Street wit 02 your e towvngmen® « :
<% meny of your fellow countrymen waere living with you?
A We are living there, nine people.
. In how many rooms? A In four roanms,
. Were you in the kitchen on llarch <2nd, 1919, atout eight
o'clock® FeN Yag sir.
) Did any men come into *%the kif{!’eeﬂ} end do ¢ and if
S0, ;-";t ase tell us what they did? 4 Soma men came in our house *
end said, "jlands up", and then they started to search us, JIveryw=
one 0L them ns&u ‘ nd we held our hands up.
) - Did you h any money on jour pe rson? A Q19 and I
gave them to & men, 1« ne o : defendants,. ;
\ Do, you recogniz 1 the courtroom any of the men 1.1




~ vy
f

¥

hat ki

L84

JOou remence ey

) Whigh one
¢ This man
o he ﬁ % '.‘(‘;
¢ M0 TOW Y
sy _I (10Tl ! 4; },11‘;'? .
- Did ¢ 1y O
ants, have anythi

& handlrarchief on
Q& Which def

off® 4L The men
o “hii‘ defe

kerchief fe1 of®
2  How saLout
Ve MY nonaeye
.- YO rasn
l l-';)‘v'.“ ‘ (ﬁl
ue, "Eands up".
¢ Is. thet
% How much
L
) Did he pu
A
v > l.\ f O r(
@ _"” 2 1 us
did to ywr fr

)

21
of eclothes did these men wear that night, do

One of them had & dar

-
e
“k

shirt on him.

? Thae stout

-

A Yes,

)f & shirt? A  Mhe seme shirt he hes on nowe.
member how ¢ other UQ{’QHJ:UN wes (‘,?"eﬂ}%‘éd?
L these men that came in, ineluding. the.defend-
ng on their faces? A The other defend&nt hed
hie face, tut his handkerchief fel1 off,
en&u;t had a hendlerchie? on his face which fe11
outside,
ndant (indicating Sgelirrach)? A Yes,

the other defendant? 4 To the other man I
the defendant Pezzulich? A Yes, that, one,
8 taize your money from you? A He was telling
I him my pockettrook.:
Ttook you have there® A ’Ho, not that one.
]
money nave ‘in it® A wlJe
+ ds in Jour pockets? A lo. ;
: $eb; 10t8. Tired®? . Three ‘shots.
6t 36 0Ther men (id; what the other rotters
ds "ney were searching the men snd +: zing +ha




money, and they treat Vincent Zic.
or with what,
tut I Iznow the

1 - Were the ghote fired after *hey heat Vincent Zic, or tefore?
A dight away when they came in they fired one -shot and then they
shot twice more.

« Were yqu a1 seated af the ftable when they came in? 4 Ye&s

: A > 4- ¥ 2 ath M .3 - o e 1 -
pid u stand up in-atbut the same place’ that you were

L\‘l)o
Q@ “id you hear ayy of these rothers say anything®? A When
they were going out they sdid something in the Italian language,

tut I don’t Imnow what,

« DO you understend Italian? A  Just a. little.
] 1 2 ¥ T 4 3 3 Y - o 3 "nar}e - - -
Q Do they speak in Italien in the pert of Istria where Jyou

come from? L lo.
« ‘Yho spoke in Italian; do you rememrer which one of these
1 g

e et S e . i
defendants? & I nevar saw %them tefore; I do not Iznow if thej

Spe&k Italian.

4
hid vou haTe f‘-“:;ﬂ_‘l”.:"_t in the room? +»  Yes,
\ Where was the gas8light? 4 In the midd e of the room,
« QOver the tahle? A4 No, & little on thae-side,.
L, Where was the teltle, on the side of the room or in the
Ceht',l'? F 75 &a t‘.j_l.t-"(} on the :",":_CG.

1o g s TR S, e 3 1 s F i
. How Yones vers iese-men in the room? ¥ I could not te1)
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you exactly., I think aktout six or seven minutes.

% 'When they left the room who wes the first of your Pfriends
that followed then 9ut€’ « T was the first man to gb out.

% How far btehind these men were you?  « I could not te11
you exactly tecause T (id not maeasure ite I do not now hov far,

« You got into the hallway and when rou opened the door éid
you see any of them in the hallwey running out® 4 I saw them

$ & 1 1 v ‘ 3 3
ruaning . tarough the hell and T was running after them.
: 3 ro1y s - " ~T a8 A vy £ 41 " Y
% 4&1G you keep your eye on any of them? A Yes,

* "hen you got on the stoop did you see anyone in the hell-
way lving down% < Ho, I did not see.
« Did you see lir. Surmers after? & No sir,

' 814 the men run?

A Four or fivae warae runni ovards Tudson Street and T was Tol-

s - Ll 1 x L -~ } - . b 3 -
Towing threa of them and I caught one 97 them tetwsen Teach otreet
and North loore 3treet.

« Just %ell us how %he men who ran towards Hudson Street

ran? 4 I saw all of them in the middle of the straeet &nd then
they perted. |
.

MER V' U sae wny of tham run tovard the north side of
Deach Strect, t rd the freight station? L I saw them on the
\‘tl"fe’.. "

« Dic YU 3668 the freight cars on Yullson Street &nd 3each
Sstreet? .. Ilo, 1 uld not te?l fthat.,

§ Dié you see them run towards the northeast corner of Beach




s ; iR ca
Street and Xudson Streat? A I saw tham on the street tut I

¥
-

ecan't tel? ryou where they runs I run efter three of them and
caught ones
v e the Tour men that you referred to ruscing in the
11ad7e f Teeach Streaet towards Tudeon Street? & T . sew them in ‘
t ; 1i6d 7 e i t tr et ind the the: tk,“‘- |
S !
|
unning or walking? A4 Running. |
\
13 1ie rectior id you run? ‘A I ren towards three ‘|
T gk M Y ¢ t Oonee

» whare did u catich one? * T caught one hetween 3Be&ch

. 2 4 L » "™ : 1
1 When these three men got to the cornsr of Varick &nd
v 4 WL "t Ty W+ Y ¢ '] he
e 8l Street dic Ir separate? . I eaught one man when the
. - -~ - o & - $ 1 ] 2« 4 2 -~y e
policemen came 1 (10 not no L1 t direction t! others '

a 4
e O -

LN LY ronm 1L 114 on v ¢ ith Sfi1¢e 0O° aacry
£ .

- - L A ~ v 4 - 1 \ s T - v . e
Strset d Xmou » nhousa? T was runnin toward
41 .,)'l Lca 4 ( .

PNYice 1
d { ' 4 vy Y ) 7Y Y STONN aach “fr_.‘e«{‘ £, 7 V"‘“—-:'a_
N
> &) 3 +- "1
b ‘4.: b A& i \ \ i -
& 3 3 € + . - - 4+ ' 4+ %
& o Lol lap v L ' 10 ¢ g Ve " (2] 1 “.( o I

~ 19 + 1 n | '8 2 €3
cannot to 701 s | tlock & a nalfe. But I am not
\
SlirXrC e
¢ e 4 1 ‘ de oy oy v QO r $- ~ ~
” LRSS 1000 . reau { street celoy aiC -~y 61 s ONNO
'
Lluu S 1 'l 1 g . a
Ry -¥3 ix - . i a8&ch. otr £ y + ? , )
b 2 Q0L L I 511012 f Llioore,
. .




T~ I o . 4+ 1 . €3 A 4 2 : 2 .
; I.-'Ttn M\l)r') - ouvn O3 L824 o l—'.‘,‘k?t’ e .!)\14- —Ls‘ .'.t 18

OT 3 518
1T v "4 . 3 s ~ 4 -1 3 @ ™" & \ A%~ 4+ A 3 a
v Low soon &af JOu caught thie man did the policenmen
T ol | + v . y g 1 3 + . 4 .
- L 5 F as 4 CLVicey o 445 L 4 J “w J\‘L:.,t.‘. 4 Y
75 ¢ 43 1 L3 * MY snnal 1 & o £ - 4 g g
¢ | Was vilicaer Jilsony 4 Thet was one of .the police~
v
4 o 4 3 134 3 -
net vl ; OutsSLdg 'nov ™
. Ting 4 2P uy ~ S MR E ek " 5 &) (| ' . 11y 1 Y 3
. TRo! = { ( JOW GO V oil I3 DNt £a 4L wWaSs cursin; nlMe

ey & 1. i i 4 ' 1

« Was the man ¢t you caught the man Frank Strolich, that

. ETaond ol '3 s e A G P EE MR R T v
wag wrlied in this courtroom Test month? 4 vYas,
o
¢ wnen di1a you next seae 1€ A6l ern Lhtn. tne _two men on
:
4 : ) s Ptar 4 . 1 x 1 J - » A e
trial hera, afte: 3 nela you and yow risnds uy

» llever mind atout that. How long 3r they held you up
did you see these *two men the next time? 4 I could not tell

. laes 1t the ame nizrnt? A . Yes, sura,
T AT h . "y I o - s . - s M-
,  LDow many shots v . Lred- in thet room? A Three.
. ” Y

¥ JDic you find an evolvers in 36 Reach Street? A lNo.

N
ddarv e LoNJLAaady (SR ¥ Lvile ».\); uy“‘l‘ J"U dl‘.iif’ll.’l"ﬁ.
Tty an rrr VE 3 . .
v.{\/uu".“.lk‘-‘“.. A K9ty 2 sasbe LAVO SOOI




you ‘to cover the distance tefore you caught him¢ A . I told

—t

'8

,

<
4
bl

o
s

" X : ,
san ou give the jury some ildea how lohg it took to
k& e o % " | - “ Y 1 »
t distance? A I can't tell, recause I don't.know even

Y - SR>
- ] L) .
* 4 | -y ~yy 1 » 2 r t7 b - - ~ ‘}
n't yoit. te?l the Jury how long it took you to run from :
v o - 4 . ‘
ana |
& i = r L e A T "\ 0 - 2L A~ Y / - & - { . - : |
treet to L he corne:  Varick/Seach ané then one iLlock . ;
{
4.7 - 1 * " 4+ . !
North Moore, where you say you ceught him; how many |
* A 4 o YrA : . - W)
geconds did it take yvou to run. or travel *thét distance?
sh A1 - 4 ’ . y 4 gyl . . 2
should se€; wo minutes, hut I am not sure,
.
u were running &adl f time? 4 Yes.
t 1 : . + o - 13 ‘ + et  1r3 } la ot o
e When the rokhers came into that.kitchen they called
3 B4 3 ~ 11 3 4 o 4 B 'd ‘
nanas up"”, 18 1€ 1 Fnt? I3 i98.
14 every men i ‘ room put his hands upf - I can

= o &Y. e i e, | bk T N 9 4 . "
veself that 1 held my nands up; tut I can't ftell atout

ontt you know whet the men next to you did, ryour friend?

e vhat the other men did,

our friends? A I can tell only what I know,

e you frightened when i@ rokters called out, "Hands
iI‘J-:o
1@ ware yo ry much excited? 4« Bvery meén would te
-

t ryou ¥ ned, weren't you? 4 Yas.




Ll Tt o ¥ “PHa ranSan vl T : s 4
Q@ And isn't thet the reasson why you cannot tell us what the
~ )’ e 9 ¥ { 3 q " . 1 . 3 A b}
other men, your friends, were doing ut the time? A I eannot
e B y N1 4= Yygy 4+ £ 17 € — str A anA Pusd’ o33 3
tall vo @t hecouse I was s&d an riphteneds I only ean tell
b . - e T
arouv & I “0
- Tow YTon Pd e 4 . b Ao r T -k 1
OV ony afte the tters 1aft the kitehen did you start
4 > y ;4 . 4 o Y b 4 - y 8 4= o . ~ Ty o - 2
t0 run aiter, emn? A LNt away aflter they laft the kitchen I
run after then
1Tyt r -~y PR 1 A P - 3 » - - 1 o .
« How many ainutes or seconds ter the last rotter 1aft
4 . 23 : N Y A, 2 311 4 " < . 1 -
the room did you sturt in pursuit? A I &m not sure atout thet.
2 P . N | = 3 -y : . - v o
Can't you tell the jury in minutes or seconds?
- ] 1 T - P £ 1 - o d ~) » @3 Y
S COULA He said » ran after them ripght away.
~ - - 4= + e 5 e ~ * ’ 4 2 1
A nen you got in the hallway were the robters g£ill in
4 &V Tor sy 7S . . AT 7S5 4 . a .
the ha’lway o0r were ey out 1 the street? A I saw while
A
they were ‘sti11 in ‘ tecause our hall is big,
P A top i 2 . N ey o T 1 - S x5 : 4 ’ }
ifow long a’ilwey? & 1 ald not yasure it.
L5 91 TN 3 - €9 s A . & . s ~ - ¢ - & o 1 b
1 wvan you give the Jury &an idesa ls it as long as this
room? A A l1ittY« eas8., A little than this room.
A _‘_ t no t as ' O a a4 i_& “')Qm' :_S ,_4 ? A 1:(\ Ly
v 1Ty g { I rrers vwi ¢ in . 4] room 4 AaY h&ad re Tyvyars 1
llow, 762 in ¢ room they had revolvers
1IN 4 3 P I o ! > Yy y —_— ” 4 g e O 4 ”
111 Tneas nanae g b 1§ o xf PN i\ _L' O 0 1 nearr aad a ,/11(1- LI
¢ Anéd you were & i Z teing s0t, weren't youp 4 Yes,
1 2 4 - > ~
cecaduse thnal’ viera LTLNE, »
L
", . Y 3 4 1. L R - . & YK : a
v an youn loorxed into the hallway you saw the rothLers:
X
[~
8 " o & A . £ 17 vy $ ‘19 4 3 P AT 2 3 ) D
do you want ell 6 JUury £t you gtill fo’lowed them in th !
2
- T Yy oy n4{N 4 ™ ~ + 2 & )
aallvay wnlle v V88 rey H I can't te10 2hout thats I ¢ca

Y reRg
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3 ; y 01y a R &, kA . >
te11 only atout the man that I eaucnt and the defendants I saw
1 only arng ¥ ™  § A

v ) |

sl P Lo L."il.‘l..
: - +* - | S 1 & wé ¥ -
s t ia 1 you can renent & L aon not nything
» o L2
. /

ters, or n who rou ught were 4 tEerg, were in th
micdle 07 tre 3%, weXe 'Y theJT i L v ware running &and
4 - | i &1 e v
' RS s LSl e
) When t en parted, three or Tour of the men went in
oneg A ire ‘_::n~:: three n ‘n-.anothsr direction; ien't that
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. - L . i T " -~ C 8 s e N Lt L il 38 &
the agt trial (readinz): 'Y Diéd *they heve anvthine on their
iec A They had their handkzerchiefs on their fuces, tut one
O $% ~om ‘38 o PP s ~ Thinh : q -1 -« 3
among em did no¥ have eny. ) hich ona was that? A I don't

- " m } e 2 4 4 ¥ T « -
KIIOW "o - L remaenmreal Wi Bl { 3 41 L amnot sure. :
bt ~ 1 4 + s 4= 3 y 2 £3 . ™
MRe RO3SZIIBARG: I8 it nceded that he testified that
y &1 1y 6
YV s :

YT M - v s =

HE COURT: He Baid 3 w&8 not sure.
e LS N
- A d v sokie g

_— o2 O \ . } 0. 4 PRESGSTW TE Tes il s .
" wilid YOW HTes8TxrI] )IICO LOIOT¢ n this court against one
A R e B S, e o A
& rohl eYrsy da -G e
8 g RGO g \ 43 . gy 0, SREES T A 12 2 . % - B |
l an that .nar rotkber was on trial did jou say you did
b y el 2 N -~ - \ r 3 4+ 114 Y & ¥ v » 1 A C
not know which ‘one 8 wi out *he endkerchief? A Yes.
.

e rat beLide
R b e “b 'y adad o dai X o

7Tl v W . } o, e el o d 4 . 3123 L 1
Wi tid m 88y at the last trial .that ou diéd not know

e

the rotkter that did not have the handkerchief &and now you point

" A oy = - Rl in 2 qT e ;
Duk\n 1 s s ¥ D mer 1 < (L L il ‘fr 8¢ Ne “KNnecrerce 'W_V_ a. ? 4 "‘.Y‘Om
4 4 2 a Pk A 1 : G (PRI TR e R o W
hea : r defandant. the nQl chief f81 o0ff his face.,.
¢« Yoy moan Frank Strolich, thae other man who was on trial.

: : : ; e . i o gt s u
hig handkerchisf fell off? A lNo. T™hat man, this defendant I

am point’tc fi;uii: ting Sgelirrach), :
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THE PEOPLE vs. PBZZULICE and SGELIRRACH, o

Triael continued, June 13, 1919,

MIKE 2Z1IC, recalled for further cross examination,

testified ﬁs follows: . i
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, ROSENBERG (CONTiNUED):

Q Mr, Zic, sfter you caught Frank Strolich on the
nighﬁ of March 22nd how long was it before the policemen
Murphy and Wilson got to the scene? A They caught us right
away .

BY MR, BOHAN:

Q In the trial of Frank Strolich, the two defendants

Pezzulich and Sgelirrach, on the 7th and 8th of last May were

brought into this court room, were they not? A No, sir. I

did not see them,

Q Do you remember the trial last month of Frank Strolich
in this court room? A Frank Strolich was tried.

Q And did you see the two defendants who are now sitting
here in this court room while you were a witness in the chair?
A I saw them.

‘MR, BOHAN: That is all.

@G EORGE W, HEITZMATN, an officer of the Fourth
Precinct, shield No. 1519, called as a witness on behalf
of the people, having been duly sworn, festified as fole
lows: . |

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BOHAN:

Q Officer, on the 22nd of March, 1919, were you attached




e 51
to the Fourth Precinct? A Yes, sir.

Q. Were you in the Station House about 8 P, M, on the

night of March 22n4? A I was, =y

Q As result of instructions received by your Captain,
Capts Costigan, was it? A Capt. Costigan, |

Q Did you make an examination of premises 36 Beach Sfreet?
A Yes, sir.

Q Whaf time did‘you meke the examination? A About 8:20;
between 8:20 and 8:30.,

" Q Did you make an examination of the hallway? A Yes,

sir.

Q Did you find anything in the hallway®? A Yes, sir.

Q What did you find?

MR. ROSENBERG: I ‘object to that. It has not been
<N;S?wn to be connected in any way with these defendantsi--
,the condition of the hall;ay at the.thne of the finding
of whatever the witness did find was in the same condi-

. tion as it was, if the defendants were in that hallway
xxxx at all at 8:20 or 6:30. The alleged robbery was
about 8:02,

MR; BOHAN: 8:02 tp 8:15 the robbers went ihrough

the hall,

Objection overruled and.exception'taken.

d Did‘you find anything in the hallway? A Yes, sir.

Q Please produce what you found .

(Witness produces revolver),
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Q What part of the hall d4id you find the article? ¢

A Behind the door.

THE COURT: It does not make any difference whether

they had pistols or not, If there was a robbery and
more than one fobber wags present it would be robbery ,

in the first degree. It does not meake Any difference

whether they had pistols or not. How does this testi-

mony hurt your client, unless this pistol is connected with

the robbery? There has been testimony that there were i |
several guns used, and that there were three shots fired.
I will allow this evidence. This testimony ;::jnot hurt
you, Mr, Rosenberg unless it is connected with the defen-

dant .

MR, BOHAN: I offer it in evidence.

(Revolver marked People's Exhibit 2 in evidence).
Q And did you find any other article}af 36 Beéch Street?
Objected to. Objection sustained,
Q Did you find anything else in thevhallwqy? A No,
sir.
Q@ Did you find anything else inside of 26 Bedch Street?
Objected to and objection.austained.
Q Did you find any é}ticlcs on the corner of Hudson and .
Beach Street?
Objécted to. ObJectﬁon sustained.
THE COURT: It is excluded unlesg you can identify

‘ it by some one who was in that room. If you have any




articiea which any of you} witnesses will tenttfy wo::
taken from the defendants I will let you put éhem in evi-
dence, no matter where they were found.
MR, BOHAN: That is all,
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBERG:
Q What time did you go to that premises 36 Beach Street?
A I went there immediately after the crime was committed,
about 8:05, |
Q Wasn't it 8:02? A I gaid about 8:05., Between 8 and
8:05. |
Q Didn't you testify at the last trial that at 8:02
you were qt those premises? A I said about 8:02,
Q Didn't you say at the last trial, --
MR, ROSENBERG: Your Honor, I want to show that
this man at 8 or 8:02 was around these prcmiées and
he saidyhe went ;here by reason of police instinct. Then
I want to ask him did he se; Vincent Zie and did he talk to
Zie, or Mike Zic. o
THE COURT: If he can show that any of these wit-
nesses made contradictory statements . ybu'can prove
that. '
Q Isn't it a fact you left the Station House at 8 o'clock?
A Around 8 o'clock.
BY THE COURT:
Q Have you any memorandum showing when you left? A No.

Q You are giving your'best recollection? A Yes, sir.
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BY MR, ROSENBERG:

Q You reached 36 Beach Street at about what hour? A Be-

tween 8:02 and 8:05,

Q. And you went into the premises? A Yes, sir,

Q@ And didn't you interviow any person in the kitchen of
those premises? A No, sir,

Q Are you sure;of that? A Yes, sir.,

Q How often have you seen Frank Zic since March Zénd?
“A Prébably half a dqozen or a dozen times,

Q How often has he seen you, -- about the same number

of times? A Yes,

Q How often have you seen Vincent Zic? A About the same
number of times,

Q How often have you seen Mike Zic since March 22nd,
about the same humber of times? A Yes.

Q Yog were a witness‘in the last trial? A Yes, sir.

Q 4And you were in court every day? A Yes, sir.

Q And you saw him every day? A Yes, sir, |

Q Bach of those witnesses? A Every time I came here I
saw them,

S MR, ROSENBERG: That is all.,

MR, BOHAN: Your Honor, Mr., Murphy is my last wite
ness and he is now in the Grand Jury. With that excep-
tion I rest.

MR. ROSENBERG: I will consent that Mr . Bohan may

call Officer Murphy later on, and I will proceed with my
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case in the meantime.

MR . ROSENBERG: ( Opens to the Jury),

(Off icer Murphy appears.in the court roam.)
It is consented by the defendants that the People's
case be reopened to hear the testimopy of Officer Murphy .
JAMES P, M q RPHY, an officer of the Fourth Precinct,
shield No. 656, called as a witness on Svhalf of the People,

having been duly sworn, testified as follows.

DIRECT EXAJINATION BY MR, BOHAN:

Q On the 22nd of March, 1919, this year, were you at-
tached to the faxam Fourth Detective Branch? A I was,

Q That is the headquarters of the Fourth Precinet? A At
Be;ch and Varick Streets, Fourth Precinct.

Q On the evening of March 22nd about 8 P, M, were you?
A I was coming north on Varick Street between Stanton and
North Moore.

Q Before or after 8 o'clock? A It was just about ten
after eight.

Q Where did you come from? A I was patroling in the
precinct.

Q Had you comé from the subway bef are that? A No,

Q Did you see Officer Wilson? A . I 4ia.

Q Didyou see anyone else with him? A Yes.

Q Who? A The man that was convicted here before.

MR, ROSENBERG: I do not think that is fair.

¥

THE COURT: Strike it out, I will tell the jury to
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disregard that statement. It is alleged that six, seven or

eight men were in there and committed the robbery.f You

must prove that there was a robbery and that these particular

def@ndants were concerned 1nwit. Theﬁi'guilt or innocence
does not depend on the guilt of anyone else.

Q Do you know the name of the men that you saw with
Officer Wilson? A  Strolich or Stroliger.

Q What is the first name® A TFrank,

Q ‘You did not see either one of these defendants? A No.

Q Did you go to the Statiop House with Officer Wilson
and Frank Strolich? A I did. ' ' |

Q As a result of information received in the Station
House where did you go? A I went to 408 West 24th Street.

Q With whom did you go there? A With Frank Zic, John

Summers and Detective Collins.

Q What time did you get to 408 West 24th Street? A About
half past 9 or a quarter to 10, |

Q What floor did you go to? A The second floor. It
is a high stoop and then the floor &bove that.

Q Did you see these two defendants®? A I did.

Q What did Frank Zic do --

Objected to and objaction susta;ned.'

BY THE C QURT:

Q ‘You érrésted the defendants? A Yes, sir.

Q Diad they.say anything to you about this case? A I

spoke to them.,
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Q Did you speak Engliaﬁ to them? A Yes,
Q Dig they_make any admission of guilt? A No, sir.
Q No max;l can convict you of cr:lme. by asking you quese
tions. That is an elemenfary‘principle of law,

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBERG:

' Q Didn't you get the address of Frank Strolich . axmi from

Frank Strolich  when yon}arrested him? .A Yes.,

Q@ And that is the information you had that led you to

fhe 24th Street house? A Yes. :

Q And when you got there, how many men were in the room?

A About seven or eight. -

Q And was th e wife of the pfoprietor there? A Mrs,

Nazimovich.

Q And the husband was there? A The husband was in ane
other room lying on the bed.
Q Was he awake? A I don't know,
MR, ROSENBERG: That is all,
MR, BOHAN: The People rest,
DEFENDANTS!' CASE,

MARY NAZIMOVTIGEH of 408 West 24th Street, called
as a witness on behaif of the Defendants testified as
follows, (through the Interpreter).

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, ROSENBERG:
Q 'Have vou been subpoenaed upon this_trial as a wit-
ness for the People?

Ovjected to. Objection overruled.




58

A Yes.
Q Did you make yodr statement to Mr, Bohan?
Objected to and objection sugtained.'
Q Do you remember the night when these two men the defene.
dants were arrested? A Yes, sir,
Q And that was the Saturday night March 22nd of this

year, is that correct? A Yes, sir.

Q Were you home that night in your house? A Yes, sir.

Q Were you home at 5 o'eclock and to the time of the ar-
rest® A Yes. I was all afternoon at home until I retired.

Q Did you prebare supper for your boarders that night?
A Yes, I prepared their supper.,

Q Did A man named Frank Strolich board at youwr
house? A Yes,

Q And did each of ﬁhese defendants live at your house?
A Yes,

Q Now, on the night'of Saturday March 22nd_at about 8
o'clock were these defendants at your house?

Objected to as leading and the question withdrawn,

BY THE COURT: |

Q Did you see these defendants thérc; do you.knéw these
men? A Yes,

Q Were they there thatunight? A Yes.

Q What time did they come there and when did they go away?

A They came in my house after 6 o'clock and they mkami stayed
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there all the time until the detectives came and the detect-

ives stopped them and called them down, to go down the sfopl.

Q What do you mean by saying stopped them? A The defen-

dants wanted to go out of the house to take some suits that

they had bought in a store, and thg detectives stopped them
going out.
BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q What time after € o'clock did the defendﬁntl come hémo?
A After 6 o'clock. :

Q Well, was it 12 o'clock at night they came? A No 5 or
10 minutes after 6,

Q And during the time from 5 or 10 after 6 until they were

or
arrested did the defendants either of them leave the house or

.
leave your presence?” A No, sir.
MR, ROSENBERG: That is all.

CROSS EXAMINATIOﬁ BY MR, BOHAN:

Q You come from the same part of Istria that Pezzulich
and Sgelirrach come from? A I came from another village.

Q Does your husband come from the same part of that
country? A No, sir.

Q Did you know them in the old country? A No.

Q Hoﬁ long have you known them? A I know ?czzulich
for nine months.

Q And the other defendant® A. After I got to New York,

five or gix years.

Q How long have you run a boarding house? A I am not
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keeping a boarding hous?.

Q Well, a rooming house? A They tore down the hous§ where
I was living in Bank Street and I had to move and I could not
find anything better and I took that small house in 24th Street,

Q Well, how long did you remain in 24th Street? A Since
the 4th of March.

Q How many floorg, -- how many roams have you in 24th
Street?- A I have two floors. The firsf floor I live with
my family and on the second floor I have five rooms.

Q How many boarders or roomers did you have on the 22nd
of March? A About eight of nine men were sleeping in my

hougse, They were striking.

Q Did you ever prepare meals for your roamers? A Regu-
lariy I did not preparé food for my roomers, but as they were
striking that time they agsked me to prepare their food as
they did not like to go to restaurants.

Q Were Pezzulich andSgelirrach on strike? A Yes, sir.

. \
All the boat crews were striking.

Q What do you mean by that? A .My husband was on strike
too.

Q What kind of a strike? A A union strﬂte.

Q A strike on the boats in the river? A Yes, sir.

Q How long had the strike been on? A I don't know.

Q How long had your husband not been working on the 22nd

Lackawanna .

of March? A My husband was working on the Xkskigk And when

those two young men came he took them because he had to stay
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at home to find a lawyer for those young men, and I was sick.

Q How long were these men out of work on the day they

were arrested? A Pezzuliéh came to my house when I moved.
He was working before in Germantown.

Q How long had they been on strike? A They were since
they came in my house, until they were arrested, out of work.

Q They never worked while they were in your house i; that.'
s0? A No, they were on strike.

room ;

WhatAdid Pezzulich andSgelirrach have? A A small room
What floor? A On the second floor,

Who else occupied that room? A With Pete Surjan.

O OH O ©O

What room did Frank Strolich ’qaye? A He was on my
floor in a small'room in the corner together with a man named
 Anton |

Q How loﬁg had Stroliech had the room with you? A Since
I moved there.

Q Four months? A Until he was arrested.

Q How long were you in 24th Street? A From March 4th,

Q Dia Pezzulich or Sgelirrach live with you while in
Bank Street? A Yes, Sgelirrach and Pezzulich know.

Q Di& Stroliech ~ live with you in Bank Street? A Yes,
he slept in one room.

Q You testified on the last trial for Strolich . as a
character witness did you not? A Yes. He was always good.

Q What time did Strolich leave 24th Street'on March 22nd,

if you know? A I know,
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Q What time? A After half past 5 he went out of the

house.

Q Who went out with him? A Nobody. H;_went out alone.
Higs brother asked him where he was going as he went out;

Q How do you know that; you were not in th§ roai with ‘
him, were you? A I was there. I have there a small kitchen
and & big room that is connected, a dining room.,

Q Is that where these men were congregated, in the dine-
ing room? A }Yes, sir.

Q Where were these men arrested, in the §in1ng room?

A Yes, sir,

Q They were in that dining room with other men when the
police came there, is that it? ‘A The policeman stopped
them on the steps as they were going out .

Q On what steps? A That leading'to the qtréet, inside
of thé house .

Q How many men were in the room when the police entered?
A Nine or ten men:

Q Give us their names? A Frank Sgelirrach and Frank
Pezzulich. | |

Q Those are the two defen@antp? A Yes, and Mike Strolich.

Q That is Frank Strolich's brother' A Yes, sir, and
Pete Surgan and Anton Jurmah and Joe Jurman and Joe Jelovieh
and Martin Honovich and John Machimovich.

Q Were all those men yﬁu mentioned in the litchen &nd

dining room from 5 ¢'clock until the time the police came in?

&
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A All of them were in the dining room, only Martin Honovich.

came after 7 o'clock because he ig not living with me.

Q Pezzulich and Sgelirrach had their room on the same
floor as the dining room? A Pezzulich was sitting and
égelirrach w&% ly ing on a couch.

Q@ What room and what floor didPezzulic.h occupy? A A room
on the second floor.

Q That was not the same floor that the dining room
was on, was it? A No,

Q What floor did Sgelirrach occupy? A On the same floor,
above.

Q Is it not a fact that none of your roamers occupied
any of the rooms on the first floor .but that you used that
floor for your family®” A On the first floor there are thre§
roomg, one after the other. Outside néar the steps there is
a small room,

Q How did it take for the evening meal, supper? A About
half an hour. |

Q@ What time did it commence and what time did the men
finish? A I gerved supper at 6:15 and they ate their supper
and aftefﬁards they were sitting afound. So I todk the plates
away and I could not remember what time they got through.

Q Fow many children have you? A Three.A

Q What did you do after the supper was finished ? A I
washed the dishes, |

Q What rooam did you wash the dishes? A It is all cone
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nected.

Q Is the dining room and the kitchen the same room?

A It is a dining room and kitchen like that (witness indicat-
ing).

Q Two rooms or one room? A There are three rooms.

Q Is the kitchen where youwash dishes in the dining room?
A There is one step between the kitchen and the dining roam. .

Q Is there a doorway there? A No, eir.

Q How big is the kitehen? A From here to the window
(witness 1ndicﬁting about 10 feet).,

Q@ What did your husband do after supper was finiahed?

A I was washing dishes and he was holding the baby.

Q What time did your husband go to bed? A The same time
wheh I retired.

Q@ What time was that® A Around 11 o}clock.

Q Where is your bed room? A Tégother where we are
dinipg, eating.

Q Isn't it a fact that your husband went to bed ime
mediately after supper? A H; wag lying down, he was not
feeling well.

Q He was in the bed room? A He was lying down, ﬁll.
dressed up. ‘ |

Q Can you.tell us what these men were talking about
éuring or after supper? A After their supper tpey were talke-

ing about bcats &and about the strike and about other things .

that I don't remember.
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Q Do you remember what Mike Strolich was doing or saying?

A He was sitting there. Frank Strolich was out.

Q Do you remember what Mike Strolich was doing?l A He
was sitting and talking with the othér men , |

Q@ To you remember what he was talking about? A I don't
know. As I remember they were talking about the war and boats

.and the strike.

Q Do you remember what Joe Jelovich was talking about?
A I don't know. They were talking among each other,

Q Did you leave the room, the dining room any time between
5 o'clack aﬁd 9:30 when the police officer arrived? A I
never went out of the house. I was just going between the

kitchen and the dining roam that was near each other.

Q Did you go up on the next floor any time during that
night to fix the beds? A I meke the beds in the morning.

Q DTid you go up that night? A No, eir.

Q Pid you go up that nighf to see whether any of these
men wége in their rooms? A Each of them has a key and I don't
bother with what they are doinge.

Q DTid you ever go up on the second floor that night be-
tween 5 and half past 95 A No, eir, I'did;not move from the
first floor,

Q@ Did any man or any woman come in to ;ieit you or any

of these men that night? A No, sir, nobody came.
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Q Were there only two men arrested there that night? .
A Two men were taken out of my house and Strolich iae taken ,b'
| .
from the street.

Q And nine men were in the room? A I think about nine,

Q They did not take your husband? A No sir.

Q You are'a friend of Pezzulich and Sgelirraﬂh, are you?
A I cannot help them. I 6nly can say What is right,

Q You would like to see them get out of their trouble, &
would you? A They are not anything to me, They are not my
relatives, and as they Were taken out of my hoﬁae I look after'
thgm.

Q ‘Are either one of t»heldefendants related to your hus-
band? A VNo,

Q Do you know Leon De Piere? A Yes,

Has he evér boarded at your house? A Never,
Do you know Ivan De Franzo? A Yes,

When was he a boarder at your house? A Never,

O L O O

When was the last time you saw Leon De Piere?

Objectedbo. Objection overruled,
A That Sunday, the 33rd of March he came to ﬁy house, He ocame
in my house and I told him that the defectives have been there
and he went right out, He had his head all shaved. .

” Q@ How many days did he live in your house? A He never
lived in my house,

Q ’Did he have his moustache shaved off also? A He always

is shaving'his mousgtache,
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Q@ Do you know Tony Tonak? A 'I don't remember,
Q Do you know Peter Bozgak? A VYo.

Q Did you see Ivan De Franzo on Sunday morning, March

33rd? A No, only Piere,

Q Did you see him before that, on the night of lMarch
32nd? A No, I saw De Franzo a week before. He was with
Frank Strolich,

Q Did Piere or De Franzo ever have a room in your house
prior to the 23nd of March? A He never lived in my house.

0 The two defendantes and Strolich were frienda, were they
not? A They know each other but they are not good triqnds.
Frank Strolich used to go always around 2ll alone,

Q@ Did you ever see Strolich and these two defendants
talking together? A 'Poasibly they were télking sometimes
- when they were eating together but I never saw them after
that,

‘Q Did you see them talking together when you were prepar-
ihg their meals during thig etrikq? A The men were staying
together, I never Qaw them fhat iay. Did Frank Strolich
- eat at your house during the strike? A Sometimes he was eating
in my house, Soﬁetimes he was out, .

Q@ Ien't it a fact he ate hies meals at the same time that
Pezzulich and Sgelirrach did? A Yes sir, but not that evening.

Q 1Ien't it a fact they came from the same part of Istria,

the same village?
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Objected to., -Question withdrawn,

Q Do you remember anything that Sgelirrach, this maﬁ here,
said on March 33nd at supper time? A I don't remember anything
epecially what Sgelirrach, The ondy thing I k;ow , during
suprer he s8aid he was very hungry_and that he was eating too
much and therefore he was feeling tired and wanted to lay down,

Q Do you remember anything that Pegzulich said at sup- |
per time? A I don't know anything specially. They were
talking abOut the strike. I don't remember anything,

Q What time did they most come in that night? A Pez-
zuiich came at half pae1five. Strolich was still at home,
Sgelirrach came after six, around six o'clock, ‘

Q How long had Sgelirrach been out that day? A They
weré‘ouf buying some suit with Pete Suﬁjan and Anton Jurman,
and they were told to come back at nine o'clock as something
had to be - fixed.on the suit,

Q@ Had they been out all day? A After dinner they went
out to buy suits and they were going around.

Q0 What time was dinner? A 13 o'clock.

0 - Did you give them three moaie, bfeakfast, dinner and
supper, for all these men during all the time they were-on
strike? A T was giving theﬁ only the mo;ning coffee,
theﬁ dinner and evening supper,

Q How many days a week had you been doing that for all
these men? A Since they were on strike.

o~

How long was that? A  Sinece I came to that house, and

A0 |
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sometimes they were eating out and sowetimgs in my house..

Q@ Did you come fo that house on March 4th? A Yes,

Q And this waes March 33nd? A Yes sir.

Q And you were making thfee meals, taking care of them,
and taking care of your children and taking care of how many
roonis? A I 4id not prepare the food‘every day. When my
hueband was Working in the Lehigh Valley and comes home he is
helping me at home with the children. The men begged me to
brepare their food, as they did not 1like to go around the rest-
aurant.

Q How o0ld are the children? A 18 month baby, eix and
10 years,

Q While these men were on strike did the& spend most of
their time in your dining room or in the roome they hired?

A They were going around., They were playing in poolrooms
and going around as they pleased,

Q And this Saturday 4id most of them atéy in the ‘dining
room or in the other rooms? A They were staying in the dining
room, Waiting to go out in the store, to take the suits fiom
the store and they were talking among each other,

Q To take.what suit from the store? A They had bought
some suits around 13 o'clock, |

Q@ You were not with them then,weie you? A I was not
with them, |

THE COURT: Strike out about the suit, The jury

' will disregard that, We want to know what she had per-
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sonal knowledge of,
BY TH® COURT:
Q Did you see the officers put these men under arrest?

A Yes,

© Did you see these officers put these men actually under
arrest? A Yes, I saw it,

Q Vhere were they when the policemen arrested them?

A They were in the dining room,

Q Did you not tell me they were on the staire when they
were arrested? A They were outside on the stoop.

Q Then they were not in the dining room Wwhen they Wwere ar-
rested? A He turned them back,

Q I asked you at the minute they were arrested when the
policemen got them where they were; they were not in the dining
room, you say? A They turned about and took them out of
the'house.

| Q Did you see the policemen put them under arrest, the in-
stant the police got them, did you see that sct? A No, I did
not see that, .

Q th did you tell us you did? A I saw them going 'qut,

Q Did you see the policemen bring them back to the dining
room? A Yes,

Q And thet is the first time you saw the policemen,when
they came into the dining room with these two men? A Yes,

Q You do mot know where the policemen got them, They

told you they got them outeide, is that it? A Yes,
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Q .The first time you saw the policeméen was when they came
into your dining room with the defendants, is that so? A Yes,

Q Vhan was the last time you saw the defendants before that

minute? A Two minutes beforeAthat.

Q When were the defendants when you saw them the last time
before they were arrested? A In the front.

Q What do you mean by the front? A 1In the dining room
I saw them, |

Q Were they in their own room? A No,‘they were in the

room where we gre eating.

Q +And they left the room, and after they left the room the

police got them and brought them back to the room, is that so?

A Yes,

Q You said that there was only a period of two minutes
elapsed? A They were hardly outside of ﬁhe door, ‘ |

0 Which door, the street door or the dining room door?
A The door on the first steps,

0 Leading down to the street? A The first door that

from )

leads / my house to the house door,

Do you mean from the dining room door or fiom the street
dogr? A They went out of: the dining room to go Outa£dg of the
house,

. Q And you do not know where they were when the policemen
got them? A No,
BY MR, BOHAN:

Q How many men were brought back by the police officers
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when these defendants were brought back? A Three men,

Q Thege two defendants and oné other man? A Only Sgelir-
rach and two other men, . | |

Q@ Do you remember hoﬁ Sgelirrach was dressed that night?
A He had the suit on he has now on,

Q Did he have a gray shirt .on? A He has two or three
shirts like that, I don't remember what shirt he had on,

- @ A brown colored khaki shirt? A I could not tell you

that,

n What kind of a hat did he have? A He had a cap.

Q Did he have an overcoat? A No sir,

Q How was Pegzulich dreeeed? A Ag he is now,

Q What kind of a hat did he have? A He had a hat,

Q 'Whgt kind of a coat? A I don't know,

Q Did he have a collar and tie on the night he was arrested?

»

. @
Q0 Do you know whether De Piere was a friend of Strolich and

A I could not tell you exactly.

Sgelf;rach? A He knows them, but I don't know if they are
friends,

Q  Mike Strolich,, what room d4id he have? A He had a room
together with Yélovich. | o |

Q@ Now his brotﬁer Frank, d4id he occupy that room with him?
A ‘No, his brother was with Anton\\&'uvich.' |

Q Do you remember what Pezzulich and Sgelirrach diq on Fri-
day the day before? A I don't, know,

Q Can you tell us anything they did on Thursday, two days
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before this Saturday? A I could not tell you that,
Q Can you tell us anything either one of these dafendanta did"

on any other day except March 233nd? A ‘I don't know, They are

going ‘around. | |

MR, %OHAN: That is all,
REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, ROSENBERG:
Q How long were the defendants out of your sight from five

o0'clock on March 22nd untii the time they were arrested?

v

Objected to, Overruled, L &
A One or two minutes when thqy went out,
BY MR, BOHAN: ;

Q Do you want ue to qnderétand you had your eye on Pezzulich
and Sgelirrach every mimite and every second from five o'clock
until thé time the officers arrested them, except those two
minuteq? n X cannot say that, they were all the time in that
room, until tﬁey Wenf out. I wag with the baby around there.

Q Where is the toilet or bathroom? A Around the kitchen,
You have to go around the kitchen,

Q Did any one of them leave the dining room that hight to
go to the bathroom? A I did not see that.

BY THE COURT: : ,

Q Do you know what a bathroom is? A Yo, behina the kitchen,

Q What do you use the nghroom for? A It is all open, |

Q What is it used for? A To sleep,

‘p ETER S URJ A N, (408 West 24th street), called and sworn

a8 a Witnees on behalf of the defendantg testified as follows:
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DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, ROSFENBERG:

Q What ie your business? A Fireman,

Q For Wh§t|company? A° On a boat,

Q What boat? A Lehigh Valley,

Q How.long have you been a fireman on the Lehigh Valley boat?
A  Six months,

Q@ How long have you lived at 408 West 34th street? A Around
two months,

Q Do you remember March 32nd of this year? A I don't know.

Q Wéere you home at the time the ﬁolioeman came ?

Objected to as leading. Overruled..

A Yes,

Q What part of the house Were you in when the policemen came?

A I was going out of the house,

Q What part of the house Were you in when the policemen came,
when you first saw the policemen, Were you on the roof or the
cellar or where? A I was out in the kiﬁchen. I was in the front
of.the house, |

Q Wh;t floor is thé kitchen on? A The first floor.

Q  You were'ih the kitchen; are you sure of that? A I was in
the middle of the house,
rQ What room is the middle of the house? A In the middle
room,

Q What other rooms are there on that floor? A Kitchen,

and the front roon,

0 How can the kitchen be a middle room if there are only t¥o

T
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rooms? A  There ‘is the kitchen, front room and the room Where our

landlord is sleeping.

Q Then the kitchen is between those two rooms? A Yes,

Q@ Now which room were you in? A The middle room,

Q' In the kitchen, is that what you mean? A Nb, the kitchen
is on the side,
Q’ Were you in the house at all? *A Yes sir,

Q@ Were you ever in the house? A Yes sir.

Q@ How many roome are there on the first floor of that house?
A Three,

Q Vhat are they? A There is three rooms. The kitchen,
front room and the room where our landlord is sleeping,

Q Which one of thoee three roome were you in when you first
éaw the policemen, if any of them? A 1In the middle room,

0 That is the middle room? A - The frpnt, where you come in
the house,

Q WVere you standing up or sitting down or lying down?
A I was sitting. '
BY MR, ROSFNB?RG;

O Tho else was in the room ﬁhen the policemen came? A All
our men,

Q Tell us who they were? A Pete Surjan.

Q Well, that is yourself, ien't it? A Yes; and‘Frahk'Sgelir-
rach and Martin Honovioh, George Jelovich, Joe Jurman, Frank Pez;
zulich, John Nachimovich and our landlady. .

Q You s~y these two men were there? A Ves,
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O What were they doéing, standing up or sitting down? A They

‘were sitting.

Q When the policemen came in they were sitting, were they?
A Then we stood up.

& Vere these two defendants sitting in that room when the
policemen came into it? A Yes, they were sitting.

Q The othér witness said that they were going out of the front
door, now which is trve? A I told you before we were going out
and the policemen.stOpped us,

Q You said you were sitting down, How could you be Bitting
down and going out? A But other men were sitting.

Q Did you go out or were you attempting to go out of the
house with the defendants when the policemen stopped you?

THE COURT: That is excluded. He said these men were
sitting down when the three policemen cameé in,  Ask him if

ne wants to change that. |

C Do you want to change it? A No sir.

Q. Were you sitting down or standing up when you first saw
the policemen? A I know what I had to tell,

Now, were you on the firset fiﬁor of those premises on the
night of March 22nd, the night of the arrest? A I can't remem-'
ber, | |

What time did you get.home that night? A Around six o;clook.
Supper was right after eix o'cloock, ‘

-~

<« Were you on strike then? A Tes sir,

Did you eat supper that pight? A - Yes 8ir,




vEv Y

' 77
L 12 ’ ! .
Q When? A In that house, |
Q Who elee was up eating supper in that house? A The i
other men, | ' e

Y

Q Can you tell us what the nemes of the other'men were Wwho
ate supper at the same table.that you did on that night? A I.
told you before their names,

Q Well, tell them again. A Pete Surjan, the two defendants
Frank Pezzulich and Frank Sgelirrach, Joe Jelovich, Joe Jurman,
and Nachimovich, |

2 How long did it take you to eat suppef? A I could not
tell you exactly.

Q About how long? A About half an hour.

Q And after’you got through eating supper did you go out-or

did you stay in the room? A We were staying in the house,

Q Up to what time did you stay in the house? A 10 or 15
minutes to nine o'clook.'

Q What happened at 10 or 15 minutes before nine o'clock as
you say? A I and Frank Sgelirrach and Tony Jurman, we went out,
we.tried to go cut,

" Q Where'did you go? A Wé were going out of the house,

Q WVere you out of thé house? A No, we were near the door
of the houeé. |

Q What naﬁpened whenvyoﬁ got near the door of the‘house?

A We wanted to go out end the policemen opened the door and stop-

ped us and asked us where we were living.

Q Vhat did you say? A We told them we were living upstelrs,
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Q What happened? A They asked for Frank Strolich,

s

Q That did you say?

Objected to. Qﬁestion withdrawn.l 3 | 4

Q Vhat happened? |

Objected to. Question allowed,
A They asked us if we were living in thn¥ house,

Q Well, what happened? A - We told them, yes, he has a room
in that hogse.

Q What happened? A Then the detectives said they were
geing to look for Frank Strolich,

Q@ That did they do with these two defendsnts? A Frank
Sgelirrach asked them if they want to see Frank Strolich and they
gaid yes.

BY THE COURT:

Q Tell us anything else that’Fiank Sgelirrach séid. A I
don't know,

Q Whé was with the police officers at the time? A I know
only the tall nan,

Q That ies hies name? A I know only fhe tall detective,

Q Wasn't there some one with the deteétives, Frank Zic or.
Mike Zic? A There Wes some men With them,

Q@ They did not arrest you, did they? A No,

Q But they put the other two men under arrest? A No,

Q What did the detectives do? A They were asking only about
Frank Strolich and that they were going to look for him downtown,

Q Did not they arrest any one there? A No,




— v—m L m:un-: SR T | T v
VA : - , 79
BY MR, ROSENBERG: ;

Q Did they take anybody away from the ﬁouse? A The detec-
tiyes told ﬁs that we are going to see Frank Strolich, and Pezzu-
1i¢h and Sgelirrach went with the detectives. |

Q Did the deféndants or e;ther of them leavelthe house from

the time that you began to eat your supper until the detectives

took them away? A No. We did not go out after supper.
MR, FOSFNPFRG; That is all,
CROSS EXAMINATION RY IR, BOHAN:

Q How were the men dressed, the two defendante when tﬁe of-
ficers arrested them? A They had the eémq suite on tha%vthey_
have now,

Q Did they have the same coats? A I don't know,

@ Did Sgelirrach have the same kind of a shirt that he has
on now? A Something like that,

Q Did Pezzulich have a coliar and tie on? A Yes,

Q You got Lome at 10 minutes after ai#? A Yes, something
1ike-that.

Q Did you see Frank Strolich? A VNo sir,

Q Did you see him thet night? A I did not esee him that

night,. ~
Q Did you see him that day? A No sir,
Q " Did you see his brother Mike? A Yes sir,

N Was his brother Mike in the room when the policemen came

there? A Yes sir,

Q@ You were .on strike, you eay? A Yee siT.
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Q Did Pezzulich and Sgelirrach work with you? A No,
Q Do you understand my questidna in English? A Very little,
Q Do you come from the same village in Istria that Sgelir-

rach and Pezzulich come from? A Ve are not from the same vil-
lage,

Q How long do you know Pezzulich? A lMore than six years,

O

How long are you in this country? A Six years,

O

Are you & citizen? A Yo sir,
Q That part of Istria de you come from? A Fiume,
0 Are you related to Sgelirrach or Pezzulich? A  No,
Q ‘How long have you and either one of the defendants lived
with Mrs. Mary N;ohimovich? AT was living there a long tim!.“
Q Who lives in your room with you? A Frank Sgelirrach,
We have the same room,

Q You mean the defendant Frank Sgelirrach? A Yes sir.

Q Who else occupies that room? A Nobody., It is & small :
room,

Q Had you and Sgelirrach been together there that éftd;noon?
A Yes sir,. ’ '

Q For how long? A TWe were all day together,

Q Did you both come in together?‘ A Yes sir, to take our.
supper,

Q TWhere were you and Sgelirrach during the day? A We were
around the city, |

Q Did you see Sgelirrach at any time during the day with
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Frank Strolich? A I did not,

' Q TWere you at any time that day in the house of Emily

Strolich at 826 Greenwich street? A No,

Q Were you ever in that house? A Yes sir,

@ How long before March 32nd were you in it? A Did you
ask me if I was in the house of Emily Strolich?

Q Yes, A I was many times there,

Q Were you there during the week of lMarch 22nd? A I can't
remember,

Q@ Do you know Leon De Piere? A Yes, .

Q And Ivan De Franzo?® A Yes.,

Q -And do you know Tony Tonak? A Yes,

Q And do you know Peter Bozgak? A No,

; - st reet
Q Did you see any of those men in 408 West 24th/Friday,

March 22nd? A Yo.

Q Were any of those men living or did they have a room in
408 Test 24th street during that week? A From what I know they
did noﬁ.

Q .Did you see Leon De Piere on Sunday morning? A Yes,

Q Did‘you see Tony Tonak Sunday moming? A No,

Q Did you see Iven De Franzo? A No sir.

Q Have you ever seen Leon De Piere since .that Sunday morn-
ing? A Yes,

Q Where? A He came to the house where we were living.

Q Vhen? A Before our dinner, Te were just getting our

dinner,
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Q That was Sunday, March 23rd, was it? A It was Sunday.

N

Q@ That was the last time you ever seen him, was it not?

A YEB. ‘

Q Do you speak Italian? A Very little,

~

¢ Do you understand Itslian? A Yes, I understand a little,

Q In that boarding hopse did they spesk Croatian and Italian?
A lMostly Croatian,

@ But some of them speak Italian, or spoke Italien, did they?
A Ve speak always Croatian but sometimes some for foolishnees
just speek Italien.

Q Can yOu speak Italian? A I can speak a little,

Q Can you understend Italian if it is espoken to you? AIf some-
body speecks to me in the Itaiian language 1n'the dieslect they use
in that part of Istria there I could understand it.

Q In Fiume? A Yes, |

Q How long have you lived in Fiumé? A I d4id not live in
Fivme, I was living in Istria.

~Q How far from Fiume? A With the boat it takee;twd or
three hoﬁrs,

O Did you know Pezzulich and Sgelirrach in the old country?

A .Yes sir,
Q Both of them? A Yes sir.
Q Did you ever hear Pezzﬁlich and Sgelirrach talk Italian?

3

A I do not know. .
hear :
Q Did you ever/any one talk to Pezzulich or Sgelirrach in

Itelian? A I think I heard some one,
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Q Are you related to Pezzulich or Sgelirrach? A No,

Q Did you leave the dining room on March 33nd at any time ;
between 10 minutes after six when you entered and a quarter to =
nine when yocu started to go out? A No, | | j § o

Q@ Did you see any of the other men leave the room? A No-
body went out.
Q Did any of them go upetairs on the next floor to their own
room? A No, |
0 Did they go to your room? A No sir, we were sitting around
the table, .
—Q Was your room on the same floor or Was your room On the'next
floor? A The second floor.
Q Wh;re was Mr, Nachimovich? A 1In the house,

Q < Was he in bed sleeping? A No, he was not sleeping.

Q VWhere was he when the of ficers came in? A He was in the
house,

V Q@ What was he doing?- A Nothing,

Q Do yocu remember anything that wae said by Pezzulich or
Sgelirrach during the suppervtime; what were you talking about?
A I don't anW, I can't remember,

@ Do you remember anything that was eaid by any of those'
ten men during ‘that whole night? A We were talking about the
strike, |

(At this point Frank Zic and Mr. Summers appear in the
court room, and Officer M. rphy,)

@ 1Is this the officep that came there that night (referring

L]
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to Officer Murphy), or these two men (referring to Frank Zie and

Summers)? A I don't know,.
Q Don't y~u remember Officer Murphy coming in with two men?
A Te came with two men that looks something like these men but

I can't tell exactly, because that was the first time I saw them,

Q Do either of these men speak Croatian? A Yes, They did

nct speak anything,

Q Did you hear what either one of these two defendants said
when either one of thoee men that was with Officer Murphy spoke?
A Pezzulich wgas talking to the defective.

Q@ TWere all the men in the dining room when the conversation
was carried on? A Yes,

Q@ 'Did you hear Pezzulich or Sgelirrach talking Croatian?

A Yo,

Q Did you hear them say anything? A They were talking
English, '

© Vhat did they say? A As the detective asked about Frank
Strolich, Pezzulich answered him in Fnglish,

Q How 'long was the officer in the dining room when he left
with Sgelirrach and Pezzulich? A A very short time,

Q Did any of the men that came with the officer speak any
Croatian to aﬁy of the men in the room? A I did not hear.

o' Before the officer left, Pezzulich and . Sgelirrach, did
Pezzulich and Sgelirrach tell you where they were going? A No-'

body told me, |
Did they say what the officer intended to do with them?




Each time about 15 days.

0

——— — —— - — -

ol

Objected to. Qﬁoetion withdrawn,

'Q How long were you on strike? A There were two strikes,

v

Q And were Pezzulich and Sgelirrach on strike? A I think,
yes,
Q .Did you go near your plaée of businessevewy day? ‘A Yes

sir,

Q@ Did Pezzulich =nd Sgelirrach work at the same‘place iith
you? A No, |

@ During the strike, you would see them during the day time?
A Yes,

Q TWhere would you see them? A In the ﬁovee wheye I was
living.

Q That is the only place where you Would gee them during
the strixe? A We ofte@ go outside,

Q@ How many:moals did'you eat each day during the strike?

A I could not tell exactly how many times,

Q Did you eat thfee meals & day? A No 81:;’ 0
Q Every night while you were at. your room in this 408 West
24th street, where did you spend most of your time after supper?
A I went outside. Sometimes I retiréd. ] | >
Q Did you spend any time in YOur‘Ioom? A Yes sir,
Q When the of ficer came|in, what was Jelovieh doing?
MR, ROSENRERG: Objected to as not wiphin the iasﬁes.
T“TCOURT; I’thinkiit is proper cross examination,

allowed,

A Nothing,
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Q Can you tell us what any of the other men in that room were

doing Outeide'of Pezzulich and Sgelirrasch that night? A We did
- not do nothing. We were sittiﬁg there talking about the striko,
What'pay and what houfs we are going to get,

Q Did any of the men go to the bathroom or toilet that night?
A I don't know, |

Q VWhere wase Mrs, Nachimovich between eix and nine o'clock?
A In the house,

Q Did she leave the dining room and go upstairs to fix the
bveds in the rooms? A She fixes the bede in the morning. |

Q Diad you'see her go upstairs on the second floor‘and go 1nt§
any éf the roome? A No, .

Q Did you see her put the children to bed? A No.

@ Did you see her wash the dishes? A Yes sir,

Q@ ‘Who helped her? A Nobody.

O

Did any of the men go out and come back during that Satur-
day evening? A Mike Strolich went out, »
@ Who was the first one that the officers spoke to when they _
came in? A They asked for Frank, |
Q Who was the first man they spoke to. Did they taik to
you? A 'No,
Q Did they talk to Frank Pezzulich the defendant? A They
were talking %1th ourulandlord.
Do you mean 'to Mr, Nachimovich? A Yes seir,

Q Who else did they talk to? A _ With Frank Pezzulich,

Q And Frank Sgelirrach? A No.,
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Q They didn't talk to Joe Jelovich, did they? A I don't

L ,
know,

Q ‘The only nmen they spoke to. then was the landlord and Frank
Pezzulich, is that right? A Yes sir.

Q And after that talk they 1eff the room with szzulich'and
Sgelirrach? A Yes sir,

0 And those two men that stood here hefore looked like the
two men that were'in the room at the time the‘police officer
Spéke to the landlord ahd to PeZZulicﬁ?“ A Yes,

Q How long were they in that room? A A short time,

0 You are 'a friend of Pezzulich and Sgelirrach? A Yes,

Q@ You would like to help them? A What I could rightly do
I would help,

Q@ You would like to see them get out of their trouble?

A Yes sir, |

Q Do you remember what they did the night before, on Friday?
A I don't know,

Q@ Do you remember where they were Friday afternoon, the day
before thev were arrested? ‘A I don't know, ~Ever)‘_r‘na.n is go%ng
around about his own bueiness;_ i

Q Can you tell uve any place they wére, any day that week ex-
cept Saturday? A They were many timee out but I do nét know
where they went, |

. & There is Mike Strolich? A Here,

¥ Is he outside here? A Yes sir.

Q How many times have you spoken to any one ebout this case
A
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sindelMarch 22nd? A I don't know,

0 Were you down in the court room or outside of the court

room every time the case was on during the trial of Frank Stro-

1ich? A I was once here,

Q Did they tell you ﬁhat the witnesses 8aid about Strolich
end Pezzulich and Sgelirrach in that trial? A No sir,

Q Do you know what Pezzulich and Sgelirrach are charged with?
A They are charged with robbvery, vecause somebody told that |
against them,

Y Vho told you that? A  Our men,

& VWhen wes the first time you heard that Pezzulich and
Sgelirrach were charged with robbery?- A The second time, Sunday,
Q - And that is when De Piere and Tony Tonak came to your

house hefore dinner? A Leon came after dinner,

Q Did you go to court at Sth street and 6th avenue the next
day , Monday? A No.

O How many times have you talked about this case with MEB.
Nechimovich and Me, N&chimovioh and Pete Surjan and Mike Strolich
and the other men who were with you on March Qand or who you say
were with you? A I cannot tell you that,

Q Are all the men except Pezzulich and Strolich and Sgelirrach
still rooming with Mrs. Nachimovich? A Frank Sgelirrach has his
room with nme,

@ Are the same men now there at 408 West 34th street who were

there on March 32nd except Pezzulich and Sgelirrach? A They

are Wbrking.
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Q  But have they all etill got the same rooms? A Yes,

< Does Mrs. Nachimovich prepare the meals for you? A No,

Q Do you still go into that dining room every night? A Yes,

Q Do you talk about this case? A  Some times,

Q@ Did you talk with the lawyer Mr., Rosenberg? A I spoke
this morning with Mr. Rosenberg,

0 How many fimes have you spoken to Mike Strolich about
this case? A We were working together. I am not working now,

Q Where does Mike Strolich work? A Lehigh Valley boatese,

) Where was he last month, on the 7th and 8th of last month?
A He was working.

Q@ What kind of weather was it on March 32nd? A. I don't

know,

Q@ Was it cold or snowing or raining? A It was-not raining.

Q@ Can you tell use anything else that happened on March 32nd
that you remember? A No.

Q Did you buy a suit of clothes on March 33nd? A That Satu:u'
day.

Q Did you buy a suit? A Yes sir,

Q Did &ou get paid that day? A Yes sir,

Q What did you get paid for; you had Qeen on strike three
weeks? A Wha£,I had saved bef&re. |

Q When did you .get paid? A The iSth and the last of the
mOnth. “ ¢

Q The last of February? A The time I ﬁas working.

Q How long before the 22nd of March were you paid? A I don't
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'~ know, They pay us every 15th and the last of the month, :

Q After the strike stafted were you paid off? A Ye§ gir,
Q “ How long before March 22nd were you paid? A I don't know,
Q How much did you pay for your room, fo Mra..Naﬁhimovioh?.
A $s,
Q Did that include board? A No sir,
o0 &8 for the room? A Yes sir,
0 Each man paid $8, 1Is that $8 a week or $8 a month? A A
month, |
Q -How many men were in your room? A Sgeélirrach and I,
MR, BOHAN: That is all,
- REDIRECT EXAMIVATION BY MR, ROSTWNBERG:
Q Was Mike Sgellirrach there at the time of the arrest?
A Yes s8ir,
Q And was the husband of Mary Machimovich there at the time of
the arrest? A Yes, he was in the house,
Q Where were you on Saturday afternoon with Sgelirrach?
A O*ateide.
.Q Did you go to any tailor place?
Objected to as leading. Sustained,
Q Can you tell the Court and jury any particular place that
you were with Sgelirrach that Saturday afternoon, March 32nd?
A Yesg,
AQ VRere were you? A On the street,

Q Vhat.etreet? A On 8th avenue and 38th street,

e

vesa
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Q@ And what kind of a store, if any? A In a store where

they are selling suits,

Q- Did you buy a suit of clothes? A Yes sir,

Q At nine o'clock, as you say, that you were about to go out
of the house, where wefe you going to?

Objected to. Sustalned,

MR, ROSFNBERG; May I not show he was going to the tail-
or?

THE COURT: It is immaterial where he was.going. e
are dealing with the whereabouts of the defendant,

Q ‘Where did you intend going With Frank Sgelirrach on the
night that he was arrested as you indicated at about nine o'clock
or a quarter of nine that evening?

YR, BOHAN: Objected to as incompetent and immaterial,

Objection sustained and exception taken,

”D..ROSFNBFRG; That is all, |

THE COURT: Gentlemen of the jury, we'will take a recess
until two o'clock.  In the meanwhile remember that the law
forbide you to discuss this case with any one whatever, and
you must not form or express any opinion ae to the guilt or:
the innocence of the defendants until you hear all the evi-
dence on both sidees, Please be back at two o'clock,

Thereupon the Court adjourned until two o'clock P.M,

TRIAL CONTINUED Two o'clock P.M;
'PETER SURJTI AN, recalled to the stand, was further

examined and testified as follows:
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BY MR, BOWAN:

Q You say the ten men all had supper together that night?

A Yes,
Q How were they seated at the table? A Around the tahlo.
Q@ Who sat next to you? A I don't remember,
Q Where did Pezzulich eit? A Near the corner of the table,
Q Where did Sgelirrach sit? A T am not sure, some where
near there, |

Q How many sat around the table? A The men that were eat-

ing.

Q@ How many were there? A ‘I don't know, eight or nine
men, |

Q@ What did you‘eat for supper that night? A Pot roast,

Q What else did you eat?‘ A Bread, coffee and beer,

Q What did you eat for lunch that day? A I had lunch in the
reétaurant.

Q What did you eat for lunch that day? A I don't know,
Sometimes I get my lunch in a restéurant, sonetimes in saloons,
BY TH% COURT: -

Q What did you have that particular day on the 32nd of March?
A I don't know,

Do you know what you had for supper then? A I know what

e eating then,

Q. Do you have a pot roast every night in the week? A No.
BY )R, BOHAN: | '

Q Wiat did you have Friday night, the night before, for

supper? A I could not remember,
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Q But you do remember th4 you had pot rozset on Friday night?

A Yes,
Q Do you remember what you talked about at the supper table?

A We were talking about the strike,

Q That did you have the next day for Sunday dinner? A Soup
and meat,

@ Do you have your principal meal at midday or at night?
A It is all the same,

MR, ROHAN: That is 211,
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MIKE ST R OLEG O, of 408 West 24th Street, called as a

witnese on behalf of the defendants, having been dnlj
_ sworn, testified as follows: (Through the Interpreter Mr,
Ucas) .
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q How long have you lived at 408 West 24th Street? A I
think since the first of March,’

.Q Whgt is your.businees? A Tireman,

Q For‘what company ? VA Lehigh Valley Railroad.

Q Are you on the railroad or are you on the boats? A Onv
the boats.

Q EHow long have you been a fireman on the boats for the
Lehigh Valley Railiroad? A Seven months on this boat.

Q Do you remember the night the detective took these
defendants from the house at 408 West 24th Street?' A Yel,“I
renember very well,

Q That was on the Saturday night, was it? A Yes, sir.

'Q What time did you get home that night? A After half
past five. 4

Q How long after half past fife? A It was about-1l5 min-
utes to 6.

: were

Q PFrom 15 minutes to 6 on that night where you until
the poiiccmen took the defendants aﬁay from the house? A I
was all the time in the house.

Q Where did you eat your supper that night? A In that

house.
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Q On what floor did you eat your supper? A On the same

floor where we afe living.

Q What room do they call it? A That is the roaﬁ in the
middle of the house.

Q. Who aerved the supper? A Our landlady.

Q Can you tell us the name of some of the people who were
at the supper table eating supper that night? A‘ Yes. I am
the first one, those two.men the'defendanta, Jelovieh, Pete
Surjin, Tony Jurman, and Joe Jurman, Thefe must have beén more
men, but I can't.remember now,

Q Was the bogs there, the husband of Mary Nachimovich?

A Yes.b

Q. DPid he have supper there toco? A Sure.

Q Did the defendants or either of them leave the house
at any tiﬁe from & quarter to six when you got there qntil
they left with the policemen? A They did not leave 'the house
from 15 minutes to 6 up to the time when they ieft to go with
another man to take the suit and then the policemen stopped
them and brought them back. .

MR, ROSENBERG: That is all,
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BOHAN:

Q You are ihe brother of Frank Strolich who was arrested
and tried in this court room lastthonth? A Yes.

Q You did not appear as a witness? A No, but --

Q Please answer the guestion,

MR. ROSENBERG: Let us have the answer.,
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THE COURT: I do not see how it is material. He
may not have known anything aboﬁt his brother. The less
reference there ig to the last trial, the better. The
only purpose for which you canproperly refer to it is
for the purpose of showing that sameone who testified

v in that case gave different testimony in this case.,

Q Are you related to either one of these defendaﬁta?
A No.

Q@ What room did you have? A I didn't have a room, a
steady room as I am living on the boat. When I come on shore
then I go to my éountrymen.

Q EHow many nights did you sleep in 408 West 24th Street
during the week ending March 22nd? A" Seven days.

Q Did you stay there every night for seven days preced-
ing March 22nda? A ‘Yes. |

Q What room did you sleep in? A Upstgira.

Q Who slept in that roam with you? A  Ancther man that

. weg on there because of the strike.

Q What was his name? A Marcus Skarlis.‘
Q Were ?ezzulich and Sgelirrach's roam'on the same
floor with you? A Yes,
_Q Pid you take yoﬁr meals in this house also? A If
we ask our landlady to prepare food for us, I took it there.
Q Were you on strike? A Sure.
Q How long.were vou on strike? A There were three times

a strike.
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Q How long was the strike in operation before March 22n4?

A I think the strike lasted 22 days. ' i
€ So that you had not been working for 22 days before e
March 22nd® A I could not have worked bocause,thére was a |
strike along in the harbor.
Q Were either of these two defendants working with the same :
company you were working with? A No, ' | ‘
Q Do you come from the same village in Istria that the two
defendants come fr an? A. No .,
Q Did you know them in the old country? A Yes, sir.
How long do you know Pezzulich? A 18 years.

How long do you know Sgelirrach? A 11 Years.

Q
Q
Q Do you understand Italian? A No, sir.
Q

Do you speak any Italian? A No, very little,l a few

words.

Q What part of Istria do you come from? A TFiume.

Q Do they speak Italian in Fiume? A Yes. There are
five‘or six languages spoken there.

Q Where were you on the afternoon of March 22nd? A I
was going fram the house in a saloon.

Q Were you with either of the defendants on the after-
noon of March 22nd? A Yes, I was with Frank Pezzulich,

Q Where were you with Frank Pezzulich in the afternoon?
A We were some time in the saloon and then we went to 828
Greenwich Street to visit a cousin,

Q Is your cousin Emily Strolich? A Yes.
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Q' You went there with the defendant Pezzulich? A Yes,

gir.

Q What time 4id you go there‘and what time d4id you leave
828 Greenwich Stfeet? A We went there around 4 o'clock and
we left after 5 o'clock. I could not tell exactly what time.

Q 1Isn't it a fact you left there with your brother Frank
Strolich? A No. VWhen the detéctives weék out with those men
I went after them.

Q But in the afternoon did you see your brother yhile you
were with‘Frank Pezzulich at your cousin's house in 828
Gfeenwich Street? A I found him in the house when we came
there.

Q- Did you leave vour brother there or did you leave

yvour brother and Frank Pezzulich there? A My brother went out

alone.

Q When you went to 408 West 24th Street you got there at
a gquarter to 6, -- did you go to your room? A When I went
to the house I went right straight in but I don't have a room
there. |

Q Did you go in that room that you slept in during that
week before you had your supper? A No. I sat down at the
table right away and we got supper.

| Q Who was af the table? A Seven or more of our men.
Q How long did it teke to eat your supper? A Around

three-quarters of an hour, and then we sat around talking.

Q What 4id you eat for supper? A Rabbit.




wé

Q What kind of rabpit? A Tame rabbit

Q Are you sure it was rabbit? A Yes, rabbit,

Q Did you have rabbit any, other night that week? A What

we order the landlady to eerve for us,
Q Who ordered the rabbit? A All our young men,
Q Who bought the rabbit? A Our landlord. .
Q Did you have rabbit any night befofe that? A Yes,
many times , |
Q Every night? A No, gometimes,
Q What did you have the night before for supper? A I
don't remember, e .
Q What did you have for dinner thé next day, Sundqj?

A Soup and chicken,

Q What did you talk about at the dinner table? A We were.
taiking where we could get better work,

Q Did anybody go to bed after supper? A No.

Q Did Mike Nachimovich the husband of your landlady go
to bed? A No, |

Q ‘Did he remain at the table? A Sure.

Q Wﬁat time did the police officer come in? A Between
8 and 9 o'cloék.

Q Before he came in aid anybody remain seated at the
tabvle? A We were sitting around the table and then some young
men started to go out to take some suif. |

.Q Which ones started to go out? A TFrankSgelirrach and

Surgin and Tony Jurman.
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Q Did you all remain seated at the table from the time
supper was finished up until the time the policemen came in?
A We were sitting around the table. Only the men that had
- to go out to take the suit, they p;épared to go out.

Q Pid anyohe of the men who had supper with you
leave the room up until the time the policemen came in?

A No, sir. ’
"Q What was.Mrs, Nachimovich doing? A Washing dishes.

Q Was she in the same room washing dishes? Or in the
next roam? A She was in the next roam. There is & door
open that is connecting the two rooms.

Q Where was Mrs, Nachimovich's children? A The father
was playing with them,

Q Dia anybne leave the roam and go to ‘the toilet? A No,
gir. |

Q Did anyone leave the room ean 4 go upstairs? ‘A No.

Q How was Frank Pezzulich dressed that night? A Just
as he is now,

Q Did he have a collar and tie on that night? A Yes.

Q FHow was Sgelirrach dressed? A The same shirt and
the .same things He has on nowe. d

Q The same tie and the samé'ahirt? A Yes.

VQ Did he have a cap? A Yes, sir.

Q Did you have your‘picture taken with Frank Pezzulich?

A No, sir,

Q Did you ever have your picture taken in a cowboy's uni-
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form with Frank Pezzulich? A Yes, Sgelirrach,

Q Did you ever own & gun, revolver? A Yes, I had a

cowboy revolver.

Q Did you own it while you lived in 408 West 24th Street?

A I don't know,

Q When did you own that revolver?. A Never,

Q Where did you get the revolver that you had your pic-

ture taken'with?» A You get‘that revolver ,xixk that funny
(phony ?) revolver when you get your picture taken;
Q How many people came in with the officer? A TFour
whom I recognized
men came, of,mkimd the tall detective.

Q Are all the men that came in that night outside in the
hallway now? A I don't recognize anybody oniy the fowr
detectives. ‘

Q Look at that man (indicating Ffank Zie): did you év@r
see that man before today? A The first time I saw him was
in the smeall court.

(At this point Mr, Summers enters the court roah).

Q Look at this man .(indicating Summers) did you see that
man 1h the dining room in 24th Street? _A I could not remember
that. When I saw the man the firstjtime, I could not remember.
BY THE COURT:

Q You will not swear that they did not go there with
the officer will you? A I cannot sfear that.~ I don't know if
they were those men.

BY MR, BOHAN: 1
Q How many men came in with the officer? A TFour men came
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in. I don't know who else. 4 102

Q That 4s four .men including the officer? A There was

two detectives and two other men. I know four men came .
i don't know if there were more or less.

Q How long after Frank Sgelirrach and Anton Jurman and
Pete Jurman left the dining room did the offi;e; come in w1t§
the four men? A Less than a minute.

Q Where was Frank Pezzulich when the o;ficer came in and
what was he doing? A He was sitting, and when he saw the
policeman he stood up.

Q What did he say? A Nothing. ,

Q Did the officer or any of the men talk to him? A Yes,
sir. |

Q Did he say anything to them or to anyone after ihey.
spoke to him? A No.

"'Q Did any of the men that were with the police officer
speak fx Croatian? A No,

Q Did you hear anything that Sgelirrach said to the
policeman in the dining room? A No.

Q But these four men were in the dining room with the
policeman? A Yes.

Q How long were they in there before they left?. A I

think they stood there about ten minutes,

Q Who left with them? A TFrank Pazzulich and Frank

Sgelirrach.

Q Do you speak Croatian? A The same language I speak now
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Q Do you underst and any other language? A No, sir.

Q You are & friend of Pezzulich and Sgelirrach, are you?
A I am a friend. |

Q You would like to help them? A If I could help them
I would because they are good, honest men,

Q When did you first learn that Sgelirrach and Pezzulich
were arrested'? A The same night.

Q Who told you? A Tony Kreulich.

Q Are you still living at 408 West 24th Street? A I am
not living there. When I come to visit them I go there;

Q How mahy nights a week on an average do you eat and
sleep in 408 West 24th Stfeét? A Sometimes in fhroe months
I never come there,

Q How many times have you slept and eaten in 408 West
24th Street since March 22nd? A About seven times.

Q Have you talked about this case at 408 West 24th Street
when you had your meals, or at any other time? A We were
talking that those men that are tried are both honest, and
that the real culprits are out. '

Q You know Leon DePiere? A Yes.

Q Do you know who the real culprits are? A I gdon't

know .
Q Do you knoﬁ De Franzo?+ A Yes, sir.
Q Do you know Tony Conak? A Yes, sir,
Q Do you know Peter Bozgak? A I don't know.
Q Did you see De Piere, De Franzo or Tonak oh Saturhay,
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